
CABINET
Thursday, 28 March 2019 at 7.30 pm

Council Chamber, Civic Centre

Members

Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Housing
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor Eugenie Harvey, Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment
Councillor Lanie Shears, Portfolio Holder for Governance, Equality and 
Diversity
Councillor John Strachan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration
Councillor Emma Toal, Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 4 - 7)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2019.

4. Matters Arising  

Any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

5. Written Questions from the Public  

To receive any questions from members of the public in accordance with 
Rule 10 of the Council Procedure Rules. 

6. Written Questions from Councillors  

To receive any questions from Councillors in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Council Procedure Rules. 

7. Petitions  

To consider any petitions that have been referred to the Cabinet under 
the Council’s Petition Scheme. 

Public Document Pack



a) Palestine and the IHRA  

Petition from Adam Cochrane:

“We believe that it would be a positive and very helpful act, if the 
Council, in keeping with their position as an ‘inclusive’ employer, 
adopt a caveat to the IHRA statement of 1 November to clearly 
demonstrate that the council does not as an employer wish to 
prejudice the rights of Palestinians, and the right of others to 
campaign for Palestine in Harlow. CAVEAT: ‘It is not anti-Semitic, 
without additional evidence of anti-Jewish prejudice, to criticise the 
Government of Israel; or to criticise Zionism as a political ideology; 
or to describe any policy or law or practices of the state of Israel as 
racist, including acts leading to Palestinian dispossession as part 
of the establishment of the state of Israel; or to define Israel as an 
apartheid state; or to advocate Boycott Divestment and Sanctions 
against Israel.’”

8. Forward Plan  (Pages 8 - 16)

To note the Forward Plan, which lists all upcoming Cabinet decisions and 
provides notice of key decisions and those expected to be taken in 
private session.

9. Recent Decisions Taken by The Leader, Deputy or Portfolio Holder(s)  

To note recent Portfolio Holder decisions taken under delegated powers, 
as attached. 

a) Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing - 12 March 2019  
(Pages 17 - 18)

b) Portfolio Holder for Regeneration - 14 March 2019  
(Pages 19 - 20)

10. Joint Finance Performance Report, Quarter 3 2018/19  (Pages 21 - 39)

11. Housing Revenue Account, Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19  
(Pages 40 - 47)

12. Capital Programmes, Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19  (Pages 48 - 64)

13. HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd Contract Awards 2019/20  
(Pages 65 - 70)

14. Communications from Committees/Working Groups/Parties and Panels  

a) Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Review of the Impact of 
Permitted Development  (Pages 71 - 84)



b) Referral from Cabinet Overview Working Group - Community 
Engagement Strategy  (Pages 85 - 103)

c) Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Improving the Provision of Bus 
Services in Harlow  (Pages 104 - 110)

15. Minutes of Panels/Working Groups  

To note the following draft minutes of Cabinet appointed bodies. Minutes 
remain draft until approved by the relevant body.

16. Matters of Urgent Business  

Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be 
received as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to be 
specified in the minutes.



MINUTES OF THE CABINET
HELD ON

28 February 2019 7.40  - 8.30 pm

PRESENT

Committee Members
Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Housing
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor Eugenie Harvey, Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment and Member 
Champion for Highways and Infrastructure
Councillor Lanie Shears, Portfolio Holder for Governance, Equality and Diversity
Councillor John Strachan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration
Councillor Emma Toal, Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth

Other Councillors
Councillor Simon Carter
Councillor Tony Edwards
Councillor Andrew Johnson

Officers
Brian Keane, Managing Director
Andrew Bramidge, Project Director - 
Enterprise Zone and Interim Head of 
Planning
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and 
Deputy to the Managing Director
Jane Greer, Head of Community 
Wellbeing
Simon Hill, Head of Governance
Adam Rees, Governance Support 
Officer

115. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

None.

116. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None.

117. MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 
2019 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

118. MATTERS ARISING 

None.

Public Document Pack

4

Agenda Item 3



119. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

The questions, together with the answers, are appended to the minutes.

120. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 

None.

121. PETITIONS 

None.

122. FORWARD PLAN 

RESOLVED that the Forward Plan is noted.

123. RECENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER, DEPUTY OR 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S) 

RESOLVED that the following decisions are noted.

a) Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Housing - 11 February 2019

b) Leader of the Council - 18 February 2019

124. HARLOW AND GILSTON GARDEN TOWN TRANSPORT STRATEGY 

Cabinet received a report to approve a consultation for the draft Harlow 
and Gilston Town Transport Strategy. This included an integrated 
transport network.

Proposed by Councillor Danny Purton (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was:

RESOLVED that:

A The draft Harlow and Gilston Garden Town Transport Strategy, 
attached as Appendix A to this report, be published for a six 
week period of public consultation following the May elections.

B It is noted, that following consultation and any subsequent 
revisions to the document, it is intended that the final Transport 
Strategy will be agreed as a material planning consideration for 
the preparation of masterplans, the preparation of the Gilston 
Area Charter, pre-application advice, assessing planning 
applications and any other development management purposes.

5



125. COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMITTEES/WORKING 
GROUPS/PARTIES AND PANELS 

None.

126. MINUTES OF PANELS/WORKING GROUPS 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted.

a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 11 December 2018 of Shareholder Sub 
Committee

b) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 15 January 2019 of Shareholder Sub 
Committee

c) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 17 January 2019 of Cabinet Overview 
Working Group

d) Minutes of meeting Monday, 21 January 2019 of Highways Panel

e) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 29 January 2019 of Safety Committee

127. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

The Leader said that following Full Council’s motion on libraries he and the 
Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Andrew Johnson, had written to the 
County Council asking them to reconsider closure of Harlow’s libraries.

Following this, a substantial petition, estimated to contain around 55,000 
signatures, had been submitted to the County Council who had agreed to 
hold a Special Council meeting on 12 March 2019 to consider the matter.

The Leader invited the Leader of the Opposition to co-write a further letter 
to the County Council re-iterating that all of Harlow’s libraries should 
remain open.

RESOLVED that the Leader and the Leader of the Opposition 
would co-write a letter to the County Council re-iterating that all of 
Harlow’s libraries should remain open.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

6



 

 

 

 

Agenda item 5 refers 
 

 

1. Mr Gary Roberts to Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 
Why is the Council so reluctant to call a Tenants’ meeting to discuss the 
increase, over many years, of the number of repairs made the responsibility 
of the Council tenant? 

 
Reply from Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Deputy Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing 

 
Tenants and leaseholders have the opportunity to attend regular housing 
forums to discuss housing matters. There have been no changes to the 
Council’s repairs policy since 2007 and there has not been an increase in the 
number of repairs made the responsibility of the Council tenant. This repairs 
policy is also reviewed regularly by elected tenant representatives who are 
satisfied that the policy does not need changing. In addition, the Council has 
a Vulnerable Persons Policy to assist those who need additional help with 
repairs.  
 
Over the years the Council has advised tenants what it expects them to 
undertake or indeed to bring back the property to the original state where 
tenants have made changes to their property without permission and 
consideration given to health and safety regulations. When and if any there 
are any changes to the repairs policy, widespread consultation will be 
undertaken with all tenants and leaseholders. 

 
2. Mr Gary Roberts to Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council 
 

Has the Council considered putting residents, leaseholders and tenants on 
the HTS Board? If not, why not? 

 
Reply from Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council 

 
Yes, it has. However, following the transition from Kier Harlow Ltd to HTS 
(Property and Environment) Ltd in 2017, the Council ensures that it continued 
to operate its management in the same commercial way. As such, it would be 
inappropriate to consider the representation suggested.  
 
The representation and involvement of tenants, leaseholders and residents is 
important which is why the long established Standards Board/Panels and the 
Environmental Service Improvement Team will continue to consider the 
performance and delivery of services provided by HTS (Property and 
Environment) Ltd. 

 

CABINET – 28 FEBRUARY 2019 
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 

Minute Item 119

7



Harlow Council Forward Plan  
 
 

 
This plan contains all decisions that the Council’s Cabinet expects to take over the coming year. Where relevant, each decision has 

been identified as a Key Decision or as involving consideration in private session. 
 

 
The definition of a Key Decision is given in Article 12 of the Council’s Constitution but is also set out here for clarity. 
A ‘Key Decision’ means a Cabinet/Portfolio Holder decision which is likely: 
a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the 

Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates. For this purpose, expenditure or savings are deemed 
to be significant if they exceed £50,000; or 

b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living in an area comprising two or more wards in Harlow. 
 

Each decision listed in this Forward Plan has been assigned an exemption status as follows: 
 
Open – members of the press and public are expected to be allowed to attend during consideration of this matter. 
 
Confidential – members of the press and public are expected to be excluded during consideration of this matter. The reasons 
for this exclusion will be stated in column 5, and relate to a lawful power to exclude the press and public when specific classes 
of information are being discussed, as contained in the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

A Decision Notice for each Key Decision is published within five days of it being made. Decision Notices and documents to be 
considered by decision makers are open for inspection on the Council’s website www.harlow.gov.uk and at the Civic Centre, The 
Water Gardens, Harlow, CM20 1WG. Representations on an upcoming key decision can be made by writing to the Managing 
Director, using the address above. 
 
The current members of the Cabinet are as listed on the Council’s website at the following page 
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121  

8

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=121&RD=0
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121


 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I008
580 

Joint Finance and 
Performance Report, 
Quarter 3 2018/19 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: No 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Resources (Councillor 
Mike Danvers) 
 
Simon Freeman 
 

I008
581 

Housing Revenue 
Account, Quarter 3 
Finance Report 
2018/19 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: No 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson), 
Portfolio Holder for 
Resources (Councillor 
Mike Danvers) 
 
Simon Freeman, 
Andrew Murray 
 

9



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I008
582 

Capital Programmes, 
Quarter 3 Finance 
Report 2018/19 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Resources (Councillor 
Mike Danvers), Deputy 
Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing 
(Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) 
 
Andrew Murray, Simon 
Freeman 
 

I009
744 

HTS (Property and 
Environment) Ltd 
Contract Awards 
2019/20 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson) 
 
Andrew Murray 
 

10



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I009
915 

Review of the Impact 
of Permitted 
Development 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
Referral from 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Great 
Parndon; Little 
Parndon and 
Hare Street; 
Mark Hall; 
Netteswell 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration 
(Councillor John 
Strachan), Portfolio 
Holder for 
Environment 
(Councillor Danny 
Purton) 
 
Jane Greer 
 

I009
924 

Community 
Engagement Strategy 

Cabinet 28 Mar 2019 
Subject to 
OWG 
approval 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Community and 
Wellbeing (Councillor 
Eugenie Harvey) 
 
Jane Greer 
 

I009
889 

Public Space 
Protection Order for 
Town Centre 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Toddbrook 
 

Key decision: No 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Community and 
Wellbeing (Councillor 
Eugenie Harvey) 
 
Jane Greer 
 

11



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I007
560 

Town Centre Area 
Action Plan - Approval 
of Regulation 19 
Consultation 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Toddbrook; 
Little Parndon 
and Hare 
Street; 
Netteswell 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration 
(Councillor John 
Strachan) 
 
Andrew Bramidge, 
Jane Greer 
 

I008
604 

Revision of London 
Road North Enterprise 
Zone Local 
Development Order 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Old Harlow 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 
(Councillor Danny 
Purton), Portfolio 
Holder for Economic 
Growth (Councillor 
Emma Toal) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

12



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I009
896 

HTS (Property and 
Environment) Ltd 
Contract Award - 
Harlow Science Park 
Management 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Old Harlow 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth 
(Councillor Emma 
Toal) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

I009
897 

Award of Telecoms 
Management Contract 
at Harlow Science 
Park 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Old Harlow 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth 
(Councillor Emma 
Toal) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

I009
979 

Housing Assistance 
Policy - Home 
Adaptation for 
Disabled People 

Cabinet Jun 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson) 
 
Jane Greer 
 

13



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I007
561 

Town Centre Area 
Action Plan - 
Submission to 
Planning Inspectorate 
for Examination Under 
Regulation 22 

Cabinet Dec 2019 
(date of 
meeting to be 
confirmed) 
 
Toddbrook; 
Little Parndon 
and Hare 
Street; 
Netteswell 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration 
(Councillor John 
Strachan) 
 
Jane Greer, Andrew 
Bramidge 
 

I009
104 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson) 
 
Andrew Murray 
 

I009
925 

Regeneration Strategy Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
Subject to 
OWG 
approval 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration 
(Councillor John 
Strachan) 
 
Jane Greer 
 

14



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I009
742 

Contract Award for 
External 
Refurbishment Works 
(SME's) for Risdens, 
Longfields and 
Pyttfield 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
Staple Tye 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson) 
 
Andrew Murray 
 

I009
743 

Business Case for 
Property Conversion 
for Sumners Farm 
Close 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
Sumners and 
Kingsmoor 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing (Councillor 
Mark Wilkinson) 
 
Andrew Murray 
 

I009
571 

Epping Forest SAC 
Mitigation Strategy 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 
(Councillor Danny 
Purton) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

15



 
 
Ref. Decision title Decision 

Maker 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision and 
Ward(s) 
affected 

Key Decision and private 
consideration status 

Documents to 
be considered 
by decision 
maker 

Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Officer 

I009
572 

Stewardship 
Arrangements 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 
(Councillor Danny 
Purton) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

I009
573 

East Harlow Strategic 
Masterplan 

Cabinet To be 
confirmed 
 
 
 
 

Key decision: Yes 
 
Likely exemption status: 
Open  
 
 

 Officer's report Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 
(Councillor Danny 
Purton) 
 
Andrew Bramidge 
 

16



PORTFOLIO HOLDERS DECISION NOTICE 
12 March 2019 

(Published 12 March 2019) 
 
 
This document lists the decision taken by the Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing on 12 March 2019. 
 
A decision may be implemented with immediate effect, unless it is eligible for call-in as identified below, whereupon a decision will not be 
implemented until five working days have elapsed. 
 
 

Decision Taker Decision Reasons for Decision Any Options 
Rejected 

Declared 
Conflict of 
Interest? 

Eligible 
for Call-
In? 

Portfolio Holder for 
Community and 
Wellbeing 
 
Councillor Eugenie 
Harvey 
 

Allocation of Grant Aid to the Voluntary 
Sector 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
A The allocation of Grant Aid is agreed 

as set out below. 
 

Organisation 
 

Funding (£) 

Band one 
 
Citizens Advice 
Bureau 
 

35,000 

Rainbow Services 
 

35,000 

Band two 
 

 

Young Concern 10,000 

A To enable the 
provision of 
financial support 
to voluntary sector 
organisations in 
line with Council 
policy. 

 

None 
 

None 
 

Yes 
 

17

A
genda Item

 9a



Trust 
 
Age Concern 
 

10,000 

Martin Roberts 
Charitable Trust 
 

10,000 

Integrated Support 
Services 
 

10,000 

Shopmobility 
 

10,000 

Band three 
 
Stroke Support 
 

3,666 

Canalability 
 

3,666 

Voluntary Action 
Epping Forest 

3,666 

 
Organisation 
 

Funding (£) 

Community 
Transport (Voluntary 
Action Epping 
Forest) 
 

6,000 per 
year for a 3 
year period 

Linkfest 5,000 one off 
payment for 
2019/2020 

 

 

18



PORTFOLIO HOLDERS DECISION NOTICE 
14 March 2019 

(Published 14 March 2019) 
 
 
This document lists the decision taken by the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration on 14 March 2019. 
 
A decision may be implemented with immediate effect, unless it is eligible for call-in as identified below, whereupon a decision will not be 
implemented until five working days have elapsed. 
 
 

Decision Taker Decision Reasons for Decision Any Options 
Rejected 

Declared 
Conflict of 
Interest? 

Eligible for 
Call-In? 

Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration 
 
Councillor John 
Strachan 
 

Planting in Market Square 
 

A Fourteen horticultural 
red planters situated in 
Market Square, 
Harlow Town Centre 
are removed from the 
refurbishment scheme 
and stored whilst 
options for their 
relocation are 
considered. 
 

B A minimum of five 
trees are planted in 
the ground at Market 
Square, Harlow Town 
Centre and funding of 
up to £50,000 be 

A Market Square has 
undergone a capital 
improvement scheme 
which resulted in the 
removal of the 
majority of the interim 
improvements 
delivered 2011. 
 

B The red planters 
were originally part of 
the new scheme; 
however the 
alternative of planting 
trees in the ground 
provides an efficient 
and sustainable 
option for introducing 
green into the area 
and reduces the 

None. 
 

None. 
 

Yes. 
 

19

A
genda Item

 9b



allocated from the 
Town Centre 
Regeneration 
Reserve. 
 

C Waiver to Contract 
Standing Order 9.8 (c) 
is agreed for the 
reasons set out in the 
report. 

 

long-term revenue 
costs in comparison 
to the existing 
planting. 

 

 

20



 

 

REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

JOINT FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE REPORT, 
QUARTER 3 2018/19 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 
(01279) 446200 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS:  
 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD (01279) 446004 

 
This is not a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008580 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The recommendations are within the scope of the original budget and Corporate 
Plan approved by Full Council in February 2018.  
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Cabinet acknowledges the projected outturn position set out in sections three 

and four of Appendix A to this report for the third quarter (October - 
December) of 2018/19 as follows: 
 

 (i) An over spend on controllable budgets of £20,000 representing 0.03 per 
cent of the gross General Fund Budget. 
 

(ii) A total projected underspend of £1,225,000 representing -2.03 per cent of 
the gross General Fund Budget. 

 
(iii) The Council performed on or above target for 48 out of 48 (100 per cent) 

of its quarterly performance indicators. 
 

 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the Council's approved 

General Fund Budget and Corporate Plan for 2018/19 and acknowledges the  
small variation to the forecast outturn position. 

 
 
 

21

Agenda Item 10



 

 

BACKGROUND 
 
1. This report sets out the Council’s corporate priorities and financial and 

performance position as at the end of the December 2018. The report is the third 
in the formal reporting process for the 2018/19 financial year. 

 
 
ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
Summary of Quarter Three Financial Performance 2018/19 
 
2. A review of the third quarter of 2018/19 indicates that, in total, the controllable 

General Fund Budget is projected to over spend by £20,000 or 0.03 per cent 
when compared to the approved gross General Fund Budget. Section three of 
Appendix A to this report summarises the major budget variations. This 
variance is extremely small in the context of the Council’s approved budget 
and range of services provided. 

 
3. Taking into consideration the budgets which are not directly under service 

area control the overall position at the end of December 2018 is that the 
General Fund is forecast to underspend by £1,225,000 or -2.03 per cent when 
compared to the approved gross General Fund Budget. 
 

4. Careful management of budgets continues to be exercised across all services 
in order to guard against expenditure pressures and to offset income 
reductions. 

 
5. Appendix A to this report details the major variations across both controllable 

and non-controllable budgets. The situation will be closely monitored during 
the financial year and should the position change the forecasts will be 
amended and reported in future financial reports accordingly. 

 
Summary of Quarter Three Operational Performance 2018/19 

 
6. Section four of Appendix A details the Council’s operational performance. The 

Council performed on or above target for 48 out of 48 (100 per cent) of its 
quarterly performance indicators. Fifty-six per cent of the indicators have been 
maintained or improved compared to Quarter Three 2017/18.  
 

7. Seventy-six (32 per cent) of the Corporate milestones have been successfully 
completed and 142 (60 per cent) of the Corporate milestones have started and 
are on track. Five (two per cent) of the Corporate milestones require further 
action and 9 (4 per cent) of the Corporate milestones have not started as the 
due dates are in the future. Four (two per cent) of the Corporate milestones have 
been deferred or cancelled due to changes in priorities. 

 
8. The Council continues to improve performance in key areas linked to its 

Corporate Priorities. Some of the performance indicators that have contributed 
to this achievement are: 

 

22



 

 

a) CS25q - Percentage of Customer Complaints responded to within target time 
 

b) HTS 4.13 - Standard Housing Requests completed within 20 working days 
 

c) HTS 2.10b - Percentage of Public Land and Highways with unacceptable 
levels of Graffiti 
 

d) HTS 3.11d - Tree Works carried out with 80 working days 
 

e) HTS 5.4 - Statutory Tests for Inspections completed prior to due date 
 
Significant Risks/Opportunities 
 
9. The Council is operating in a period of major change driven by both the world-

wide economic condition and the legislative changes being introduced by the 
Government. Some of the key changes that will, or are already, impacting on the 
Council include: 

 
a) The risk and volatility associated with the Government’s localisation of 

business rates. 
 

b) Variations in income from fees and charges and other specific grants. 
 

c) Ongoing low staff turnover rates which put at risk the achievement of the 
vacancy saving targets allocated to each service within the Council’s 
budget. 
 

d) The uncertainty regarding the future financial settlements including the end 
of the current four year funding deal beyond the current spending review 
period from 2021/22 onwards. 
 

10. Section six of Appendix A details information about two exceptional risks (rated 
with a risk score of 20 or higher) recorded in the Council’s Risk Register as at 
December 2018. These risk are: 

 
a) SRHSG03 (Tackling Housing Need) - There is a known acute housing 

shortage of all tenures which results in increased Housing Need Register 
and overcrowding.  In addition to the existing Allocations Policy and 
Homelessness Strategy, partnership working and Government grants will be 
required to increase supply of supported housing accommodation. 

 
b) SRPLC11 (Continue to lobby Central Government to meet infrastructure 

needs of Harlow) - The town requires key infrastructure to deliver housing 
growth. A Housing infrastructure Fund bid is in progress to enable faster 
delivery. Without the Government funds, delivery will continue but at much 
slower pace. 

 
11. The Corporate Risk Register continues to be reviewed on a quarterly basis by 

Senior Management Board and key risks are reported to the Audit and 
Standards Committee for scrutiny and challenge. 

23



 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place Services (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Joint Finance and Performance Report, Quarter 3 2018/19. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 

24



Harlow Council
Joint Finance and Performance Report
for the period ending

31/12/2018

Date

31/12/2018

1

     Draft 

25

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col1')
bev.thomas
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_1
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_2
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_3
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_4
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_5
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_6
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_7
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_8
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_9
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_10
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_11
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_12
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_13
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_14
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_15
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_16
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_17
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_18
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_19
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_20
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_21
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_22
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_23
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_24
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_25
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_26
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_27
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_28
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_29
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_30
Typewritten Text

philip.kershaw
Text Box

bev.thomas_31
Rectangle

bev.thomas_32
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_33
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_34
Typewritten Text
  

bev.thomas_35
Typewritten Text
  

bev.thomas_36
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_37
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_38
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_39
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_40
Typewritten Text
   

bev.thomas_41
Typewritten Text
     

bev.thomas_42
Typewritten Text
   

bev.thomas_43
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_44
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_45
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_46
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_47
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_48
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_49
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_50
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_51
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_52
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_53
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_54
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_55
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_56
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_57
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_58
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_59
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_60
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_61
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_62
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_63
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_64
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_65
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_66
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_67
Typewritten Text
                              Appendix A

bev.thomas_68
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_69
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_70
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_71
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_72
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_73
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_74
Typewritten Text

bev.thomas_75
Typewritten Text

Philip.kershaw
Text Box



The Council's aim for 201819:

"to improve Harlow for residents, businesses and
visitors"

The Council's priorities:

1. More and better housing

2. Regeneration and a thriving economy

3. Wellbeing and social inclusion

4. A clean and green environment

5. Successful children and young people

26



How to use this report

You may wish to consider the following questions to form an idea on how well the
Council is doing in achieving its priorities and objectives.

Questions which the reader may wish to consider:

1. What are the reasons for the performance being below target?
2. What is the Council’s expenditure on this service?
3.  Has performance fluctuated between quarters and what are the reasons for

this?
4.  Is it anticipated that the target will be met by the end of the year?
5. What are the proposed actions to improve performance and achieve the

target and when will this be done by?
6.  How well is the Council responding to gaps in performance or shortfalls in

income?

Other areas for consideration could include:

1.  Is the indicator a high priority for the Council? Is this reflected in the budget?
2.  How does the service compare to other local authorities in terms of value for

money – how does the Council’s expenditure on this service and performance
achieved compare to similar local authorities?

3. What are other Council’s doing to improve performance in this area?
4.  Are there any overspends/underspends in the budget area within which the

under performing indicator sits?
5.  Are there any future projects planned that will enhance existing performance?
6.  How severe or likely are risks associated with lower level performance?

Performance Symbols:
Harlow Council uses the below symbols when reporting performance.

Direction of Travel (DOT) Symbols:
The direction of travel is from the same quarter in the previous year.

27



Section One: Key Considerations
The key issues relating to the Council’s finances, performance, risks and corporate plan:

All the indicators for quarter 3 achieved or exceeded their target:The forecast outturn position for 2018/19 is that the controllable
General Fund revenue budget will overspend by £20,000 on its
gross controllable costs. This represents an underspend of
0.03% of the Council's approved gross budget for the General
Fund. Taking into consideration the budgets which are not
controllable by services, there is an overall forecast underspend
of £1,225,000 or 2.03%.

Key risks in relation to financial management are currently:
The risks and volatility associated with the Government's
localisation of business rates.
Variations in income from fees and charges.
The uncertainty regarding the future financial settlements
including the end of the four year funding deal beyond the
current spending review period from 2020/21 onwards

K e y   C o n s i d e r a t i o n s      F i n a n c e

32.2 % of the milestones have been successfully completed.
60.2% of the milestones have started and are on track.
2.1 % of the milestones require further actions.
3.8% of the milestones have not started as the
due dates are in the future. 
1.7% of the milestones have been cancelled or deferred due to
changing priorities.
There are no 'red' milestones for quarter three.

The following exceptional residual risks (rated as high likelihood,
high impact) have been highlighted for this quarter:

SRCWB03  Future of Discretionary services
SRHSG03  Tackling housing need
SRPLC11  Continue to lobby Central Government to meet the
infrastructure requirements of Harlow

1

28

javascript:app.OpenViewType(1, %22CURRENT%22, 6168, 0, 1, false)
javascript:app.OpenViewType(1, %22CURRENT%22, 6164, 0, 1, false)
javascript:app.OpenViewType(1, %22CURRENT%22, 6184, 0, 1, false)
Philip.kershaw_1
Text Box

Philip.kershaw_2
Text Box

Philip.kershaw_3
Text Box

Philip.kershaw_4
Text Box

Philip.kershaw_5
Text Box



 

Section Two: What Our Customers are Telling Us (Complaints)   
The Council provides and commissions a large number of services to a population of over 
85,000 residents. Each year the Council undertakes over 600,000 housing transactions, 
deals with hundreds of thousands of enquiries at Contact Harlow and provides an 
administrative service for Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support to a caseload of 
9,000 benefit claimants. 
 
The Council aims to respond to and resolve all stage one and stage two complaints within 
ten working days and stage three complaints within 15 working days. 
 
The chart below shows the number of complaints for Quarter Three (October to 
December 2018). When compared to the same Quarter in 2017/18, there was a 39% 
reduction in complaints as a result of closer monitoring. The chart also includes a longer 
trend line, which shows the performance of complaints from October 2016 to December 
2018. The annual trend continues to be downwards.  

 
 
In Quarter Three, the Council received a total of 146 complaints. Of these complaints, 32 
(22%) were upheld, 93 (64%) were not upheld and 21 (14%) were partially upheld. The 
chart below shows the breakdown by classification for each month. 
 

 

86
82

52

82

85
89

62

98

87

96

101

92

93

88

57

78
76

82

75

69 63

57

48

68

51

60

35

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

O
ct

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6

D
e

c-
1

6

Ja
n

-1
7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

A
p

r-
1

7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-

1
7

A
u

g-
1

7

Se
p

-1
7

O
ct

-1
7

N
o

v-
1

7

D
e

c-
1

7

Ja
n

-1
8

Fe
b

-1
8

M
ar

-1
8

A
p

r-
1

8

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n

-1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

A
u

g-
1

8

Se
p

-1
8

O
ct

-1
8

N
o

v-
1

8

D
e

c-
1

8

Total Number of Complaints

11 13 8
3230 39

24

93

10 8
3

21

0

50

100

150

200

July August September Quarter 3 (Total)

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
o

m
p

la
in

ts

Breakdown by Classification

Partially Upheld

Not Upheld

Upheld

29



 
 
The table below shows the breakdown of complaints by the stage for each month in 
Quarter Three.  Eighty-four per cent of the complaints were resolved by stage one, eleven 
per cent of complaints were resolved by stage two and five per cent of the complaints 
reached stage three. 
 

Month Stage one Stage two Stage three 

October 42 6 3 
November 51 6 3 
December 29 4 2 

Total  122 16 8 

 

Between October and December 2018, there were 133 (performance), 15 (person) and 25 
(policy) related complaints. This is illustrated in the chart below by Service areas. 
 

 
 
Additional information is collected on all closed complaints that were either upheld or 
partially upheld to ensure lessons are learnt to improve Service delivery; and minimise the 
risk of reoccurrence.  

This information is logged by the Service areas responding to the complaint and includes: 

• What will be done as a result of the complaint? 
• Who by? 
• By when? 

 
The Customer Services Officer receives monthly reports to ensure that action(s) are 
completed. Any failures/blockages are reported to the Customer and Media Services 
Manager to progress to the relevant Head of Service. 

Reports on trends and resolutions are provided to the Senior Management Board to 
ensure continuous improvement. 

39

44

7

3

8

2

0

6

9

3

4

1

3

0

10

1

1

0

2

3

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Housing

HTS - Housing

HTS - Environment

Community Wellbeing

Place

Finance

Governance
Breakdown by category and service

Performance

Person

Policy

30



Section Three: The Latest Financial Performance

The Council continues to face financial challenges, especially those created by the long term
reductions in its core Government funding which have, and will continue to feature within its Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). As has been previously reported to Cabinet, the long period of
austerity and the resulting budget reductions that have been required over an extended period to
enable a balanced budget to be approved each year are now creating a much greater challenge at
service level in terms of managing service costs and income to the approved budget.

Unlike previous years, the aggregate of the service controllable variations shown in the 2018/19
Quarter 3 report are only generating a £20,000 adverse variation (£333k favourable variation at
Q3 2017/18 and £314k favourable variation at Q3 2016/17) with the budgets now set having been
reduced to meet savings targets in previous years the ability for services to deliver below the
approved budget moving forward will be extremely difficult.

Despite this position, the content of this report highlights the excellent financial control being
placed upon existing budgets by all services and, whilst there remain great uncertainties for the
future arrangement for local government funding, the Council can have confidence that its services
will continue to be delivered to residents it serves without reduction or cuts for the foreseeable
future.

The forecast service underspend is just £20,000 on controllable budgets in 2018/19 or 0.03% of
the Council's gross budget.Taking into account the noncontrollable costs, there is a forecast
underspend of £1,225,000 or 2.03% of the gross budget mainly resulting from  unplanned
government support for the business rates retention scheme and a reduction in the costs of
Housing Benefit.

Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director

Moving in General Fund Balance Q3; The Budget Variations_Exceptions Q3

F i n a n c e   S u m m a r y

131

javascript:JSUOpenDocument('../Uploads/Documents/Movement in General Fund Balance (Q3) 201819 V2.pdf', '');
javascript:JSUOpenDocument('../Uploads/Documents/Quarter 3 General Fund Budget Variances_ 2018-19  (Ver 4).pdf', '');
philip.kershaw_1
Text Box

philip.kershaw_2
Text Box



 
 

 
Movements in General Fund Balance in Quarter Three 2018/19 

 

      £millions* 

General Fund closing balance as at 31 March 2018 6.734 

 Variations resulting from previous Cabinet / Council decisions:  

 Planned investment in Harlow’s environment (1.000)  

 Transfer to Harlow & Gilston Garden Town Funding Reserve (0.500) 

 Replacement of Paddling Pools (0.750) 

 Contribution to Discretionary Services Fund (0.026) 

 Carry forwards from 2017/18 to 2018/19 (0.137) 

 Effective General Fund closing balance as at 31 March 2018 4.321 

 Current Variations  

 Service budget variations (0.020) 

 Other variations  1.245 

Balance on General Fund at 31 March 2018 (Projected) 5.546  

  

* Note: Figures in brackets () reduce the projected General Fund Balance. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2018/19  Projected Outturn 
 
The Council projects to underspend 
by a margin of –2.03% on its gross 
General Fund revenue budget.  

 
 

 

 

3%

2%

1%

-1%

-2%

-3%

2.5%

1.5%

0.5%

-0.5%

-1.5%

-2.5%

32



Latest Financial Performance (Budget Variations / Exceptions):

Major Variances - Quarter 3 of  2018/19

Service
Adverse

£000s

Favourable

£000s

Net

£000s
Main Contributing Factors to Variations

Community Wellbeing

Support for Voluntary  Organisations (76) (76) This budget was previously used to award Discretionary 
Rate Relief to businesses / charities. This expenditure is 
now accounted for within the Collection Fund rather than 
the General Fund as a result of legislative changes in 
accounting practice.

Pets Corner 35 35 This forecast overspend is mainly due to the cost of 2 
apprentices paid at the living wage which were not 
included in the original estimate.

The Playhouse 80 80 The over-spend at the Playhouse has increased mainly 
due to technicalities related to the Playhouse Capital 
investment programme in 2018/19, specialist cleaning and 
repairs that have been required and  contractual matters 
relating to the ticketing system and  contracts with artistes.

Regeneration Team (84) (84) Vacant posts and increased Government grant to fund 
some officer's costs.

Communications 27 27 Increased staffing and advertising costs.
Other Minor Variations (5) (5)
Total Community Wellbeing (23)

Place

Refuse and Recycling 199 199 This forecast overspend is mainly due to the indexation 
uplift of both the refuse and recycling contracts of £34k, a 
reduced container / vehicle rebate of £37k and the 
payment of gate fees of £149k which was previously 
financed by the refuse contractor.

Street Cleansing 41 41 Forecast overspend  of payment to HTS due to the 
purchase of additional litter bins and the cost of emptying 
them.

Cemetery & Crematorium 34 34 Legal fees and other costs associated with the extension 
of burial land.

Housing Garages - GF 70 70 This forecast variation reflects a net increase of recharges 
to the HRA £4k and an increased contribution to capital 
resulting from a slippage in the 2017/18 capital programme 
of £77k, offset by increased rental income (£11k).

Commercial Properties - Miscellaneous (55) (55) Forecast increased rental income offset by reduced 
maintenance costs.

Water Gardens Car Park 75 75 The income from this contract is forecast to be lower than 
initially estimated.

Civic Centre 72 72 This forecast overspend is mainly due an increase in 
building maintenance costs of £27k and electricity costs of 
£10k.

Planning Services (256) (256) This variance is mainly the result of an increase in 
planning fees of £190k and a part reversal of the previous 
year's legal costs appeal provision £55k.

Other minor variations (39) (39)
141 

Housing (General Fund) Services
Supporting People (59) (59) Increased income for alarms and increased income from 

HRA recharges.

Housing Options & Advice 34 34 A forecast increase in the cost of temporary 
accommodation of £193k and grants to volutary 
Organisations of £106k offset by additional grant funding.

Other minor variations 20 20 

Total Housing (General Fund) Services (5)

Finance Service

Finance Miscellaneous 35 35 A forecast over spend on external audit costs.

Revenues and Benefits (98) (98) Additional government grant funding  and salary savings 
offset by increased bank charges and Allpay charges and 
the cost of GDPR software.

Insurance 24 24 Overspend is primarily due to additional insurance costs 
associated with reinstatement works on a property.

Minor Service variances 22 22 
Total Finance Service  (17)

Managing Director and Services

Managing Director (7) (7) Salary and superannuation savings.

Governance
Human Resources (24) (24) Savings from a vacant post offset by the cost of an 

apprentice commencing in December 2018.

Head of Governance (30) (30) Forecast underspend on salary costs.

Other minor variances (15) (15)
Total Governance Service (69)

Service Specific Variations 20 Sub-total

33



Other

Council Tax Sharing Agreement (60) (60) Council Tax sharing agreement income from County, Fire 
and Police is estimated at £460,000. This compares to an 
approved income budget of £400,000.

S31 Grant (717) (717) Grant reimbursed by the Government for the loss of 
income under the business rates retention scheme which 
is as a result of tax changes announced at fiscal events.

New Homes Bonus 76 76 New Homes Bonus less than estimated.

Finance Miscellaneous 150 150 Shortfall of business rate income of £150k from the 
Enterprise Zone. This is offset by reduced interest costs 
(see below) as a loan for the Enterprise Zone is not 
required in 2018/19, which is likely to be deferred until 
2020/2021.

Interest Payments (223) (223) Mid year review of interest forecasts. Interest payments 
are forecast to be less than anticipated as there will be no 
new borrowing taken out in 2018/19.

Interest Income 173 173 Mid year review of interest forecasts. 

HTS Management (290) (290) The year-end variation reflects the final settlement from 
Kier following the conclusion of the JVCO.

Apprenticeship Levy 37 37 The cost of the apprentice levy paid to HMRC is higher 
than anticipated and the grant income budgeted to be paid 
to the Council from HMRC is paid directly to the training 
providers.

Housing Benefits (391) (391) Lower cost of the national housing benefit scheme than 
anticipated.

Total Other Variations (1,245) Sub-total

(1,225)Total General Fund Budget Variations

34



Service Based Analysis

Overall, financial control is generally satisfactory with a net underspend of £23k predicted for the current financial
year. The overspend at the Playhouse has occurred for a variety of reasons, which include technicalities related to
the Playhouse Capital investment programme in 2018/19, and contractual issues. A new system of monitoring on a
show by show basis to be introduced to flag and minimise any losses as soon as possible.

Performance across the service area remains good, and with just one milestone not being met, but it is anticipated
this will be met in the first quarter of 2019/2020. 

The quarter 3 forecast for Place Services is showing a net overspend of £141k for the current financial year which
has reduced by £200k since the quarter 2 report in December. 

The Overspend continues to be influenced by a number of issues that have been identified during the budget
monitoring process which include refuse and recycling pressures, cost associated with the extension of
the Cemetery and additional maintenance costs associated with the Councils asset portfolio.  However, further
improvements in the income from fees and charges particularly in the lettings income from commercial properties
and income from planning fees has helped to offset these pressures and reduce the overall overspend for the
service.

Overall financial control remains good and the position across the service area will continue to be monitored
throughout the remainder of the year with a view to reducing the overspend where possible.  

Resources for housing need are continuing to be targeted against priorities. There is an anticipated ongoing increase
in homelessness costs which include the provision of temporary accommodation (T/A) and prevention activities. The
Council are continuing to bid for extra Government Grants to tackle rough sleeping initiatives.

The Council are continuing to implement the five year supported housing plan, and key milestones are continuing to
be met with risk being mitigated through actions in the Corporate and Service Plan risk register.

Service Risks
Transparency  Regular performance reporting to Members and SMB remains in place. Officers are actively
pursuing a Framework for Information Governance which will be reported to the Corporate Governance Group.

The current HR/Payroll system is dated, unwieldy and difficult to support. The Council has approved a capital
budget for a replacement during 201920.

Service Milestones
The Service milestones are on track with 23 out of the 69 milestones already completed and a further 36 milestones
due to complete by the end of Quarter 4. One milestone has been cancelled due a change of priorities. Three
milestones are slightly off track:

Visits intended as part of the electoral canvass periods to colleges and sixth forms due in quarter 3 were not
undertaken due to three byelections being called within the busy canvass period.
The rollout of an upgrade to the Modern Gov confidential APP which supports Member's paperless meetings
was delayed due to technical environment issues and is now being implemented.
A report on sickness monitoring will be made during the final quarter.

Budgetary Matters
The Service is currently projected to slightly underspend by the end of Quarter 4. Major variances relate to staffing
matters, although there has been some underachievement of income on searches for Local Land Charges which are
dependent on the external housing market flows.

The current forecast for the Finance Service is that it will underspend by £17,000 in 2018/19. This is an extremely
small variance against Service controllable budgets of over £40 million and the position will continue to be monitored
very closely throughout the remainder of the financial year to ensure that the Service manages within its approved
budget allocations.

Community Wellbeing, Jane Greer

Place Services

Housing, Andrew Murray

Governance, Simon Hill

Finance, Simon Freeman

135

philip.kershaw_3
Text Box



Section Four: Performance

The Council performed on or above target for 48 out of 48 (100%) of its indicators. Fifty six per
cent of the indicators have been maintained or improved compared to Quarter Three 2017/18.

Percentage of indicators within
or better than target

98 % 92 % 98 % 100 % 100 %

64 % 57 % 67 % 66 % 56 %

P e r c e n t a g e   o f   i n d i c a t o r s   w i t h i n   o r   b e t t e r   t h a n   t a r g e t

Qtr ended
31/12/2017

Qtr ended
31/03/2018

Qtr ended
30/06/2018

Qtr ended
30/09/2018

Qtr ended
31/12/2018

P e r c e n t a g e   o f   i n d i c a t o r s   i m p r o v i n g   o r   u n c h a n g e d   f r o m   t h e   s a m e   p e r i o d   l a s t   y e a r

Qtr ended
31/12/2017

Qtr ended
31/03/2018

Qtr ended
30/06/2018

Qtr ended
30/09/2018

Qtr ended
31/12/2018

Percentage of indicators
improving or unchanged from
the same period last year

Good Performance:

Nineteen of the forty eight (40%) indicators performed significantly above their target. Listed
below are a selection of the performance indicators which have contributed towards the
achievements of the Council's priorities.

Community Wellbeing : CS25q %
of customer complaints
responded to within target time

93.15 85.00 86.13 85.00

All complaints continue to be monitored, which has contributed to the KPI exceeding its target for Quarter 3.

Housing : HTS 4.13 Standard
Housing requests completed
within 20 working days

100.00 96.00 99.87 95.00

Excellent performance continues to be maintained.

Place Services : HTS 2.10b
Percentage of public land and
highways with unacceptable
levels of graffiti

0.44 1.00 0.67 1.00

The KPI continues to exceed its target due to the importance placed on the quick removal of graffiti.

Place Services : HTS 3.11d Tree
works  work carried out within 80
working days

98.00 100.00 81.53 100.00

The KPI performance continues to increase.

Place Services : HTS 5.4 Statutory
tests for inspections completed
prior to due date (%)

99 100 98 100

Good performance continues to be maintained for this KPI.

A 1

31/12/2018
Actual

31/12/2018
Target

31/12/2017
Actual

31/12/2017
Target

136

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
bev.thomas_76
Rectangle

bev.thomas_77
Rectangle

philip.kershaw_4
Line

philip.kershaw_5
Line

philip.kershaw_6
Line

philip.kershaw_7
Line

philip.kershaw_8
Line

philip.kershaw_9
Line

philip.kershaw_10
Line

philip.kershaw_11
Line

philip.kershaw_12
Line

philip.kershaw_13
Line

philip.kershaw_14
Line

Philip.kershaw_6
Line

Philip.kershaw_7
Line



Section Five: Improvement Action Plans

The Council and HTS (Property & Environment) Ltd monitors all performance indicators which
have been subject to an Improvement Action Plan (IAP) during the past 12 months. The table
below illustrates how the indicators subject to an IAP have performed over time.

All performance indicators are reported as red, blue and green in line with the Council
performance monitoring.

... BF005 Average days to
process new claims

...
HTS 2.1b Routine cleaning
of streets (NI195) Detritus
to Grade A standard (Wave)

...
BV012 Average number of
working days / shifts lost to
sickness and absence

... BV082ai Household waste
recycled (%)

Number of Red Quarterly
Indicators

1 3 1 0 0

Quarterly Performance
Indicator

QTR
ended
31/12/2017

QTR
ended
31/03/2018

QTR
ended
30/06/2018

QTR
ended
30/09/2018

QTR ended
31/12/2018

N.B. 4th Quarter 2017 had three indicators subject to IAP.  BV202 people sleeping rough is
now a contextual indicator and is no longer included in above list

137

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(285,2837);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2133);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2156);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2155);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2191);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2178);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2180);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,3342);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2137);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2159);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2158);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2157);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2174);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,2189);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(298,1687);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(298,1686);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(298,1808);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(298,1807);
javascript:app.OpenBBKPageFromLink(323,3347);
Philip.kershaw_8
Text Box



Section Six: Key Corporate and Financial Risks

SRHSG03  Tackling housing need
IF : If housing need is not met
THEN : Then there will be residents who have a lack of housing or are in unsuitable housing conditions
BACKGROUND : There is a known acute housing shortage of all tenures particularly social housing which results in increased Housing Need Register and overcrowding

Murray,
Andrew

Likely (4) Major (4)
Allocations Policy and
Homelessness Strategy

Likely (4) Major (4) 21
Almost

Certain (5)
Major (4) 23

Partnership working and
Government grants to
target scarce resources
Successful award of
additional Government
rough sleepers grant to
increase the supply of
supported housing
accomodation

31/12/2018

SRPLC11  Continue to lobby Central Government to meet the infrastructure requirements of Harlow
IF : If the key infrastructure needs of the town are not met
THEN : Then housing growth cannot be delivered
BACKGROUND : In particular, the Garden Town infrastructure requirements need to be met to ensure a sustainable development that will contribute to the renewal of Harlow

Cooper,
Dianne

Likely (4)
Catastrophic
(5)

A Housing Infrastructure
Fund bid has been
shortlisted by Homes
England and a full
business case is to be
submitted by March 2019

Likely (4)
Catastrophic

(5)
24 Moderate (3) Major (4) 18

Further works needs to
be done with developers,
neighbouring authorities
and Government to deliver
the growth objectives

31/12/2018

Risk Owner
Inherent
Likelihood

Inherent
Impact

Controls Already in Place
Residual
Likelihood

Residual
Impact

Residual
Risk Score

Residual
Risk
Indicator

DoT
Foreseeable
Likelihood

Foreseeable
Impact

Foreseeable
Risk Score

Additional actions to
mitigate risk

Last
Reviewed

1

38

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col25')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col21')
javascript:app.OpenViewType(1,%20%2522CURRENT%2522,%206164,%2018584,%201,%20false)
javascript:app.OpenViewType(1,%20%2522CURRENT%2522,%206184,%2018584,%201,%20false)
philip.kershaw_15
Text Box



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Service Milestone requiring further action  Due Date Status What is the performance situation 

Improve Communications - Review, Scope and make 
recommendations on Style Guide, Harlow times and 
other publications. 

31/12/2018 

 The content/themes for Harlow Times have been reviewed and a digital version 
published.  The Style Guide is linked to the completion of the Council’s new Website in 
Quarter 1 2019/20.  

Promote Democracy - Visits to be arranged with the 
colleges and sixth forms to promote enrolment onto 
the Electoral Register. 

31/12/2018 

  
Due to By Elections during the 3

rd
 Quarter, the milestone will now be completed early 

2019. 

 

Review Sickness Policy - Present findings and 
recommendations from the Staff sickness policy 
review to SMB. 

31/12/2018 

 

The Review will be completed in Quarter 4. 

Improve efficiency - Co-ordinate the upgrade of 
Modern.gov and the confidential App system. 

31/12/2018 
 

Due to external IT issues the milestone has been delayed. The system will be tested by 
Councillors early in Quarter 4. The milestone will now complete by 31 March 2019. 

Place - Deliver capital projects approved in 2017/18 
Capital Programme. 

31/3/2019 

 
Information relating to these projects can be found in the Capital Programme report 
elsewhere on this Cabinet agenda. 

 

39



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT, QUARTER 3 
FINANCE REPORT 2018/19 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON, DEPUTY 
LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
HOUSING 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR (01279) 
446228 
 
ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING 
(01279) 446676 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

ALISON CURTIS, SENIOR SERVICE 
ACCOUNTANT, (01279) 446211 
 
ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER 
(01279) 446212 
 
 

This is not a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008581 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The recommendations are within the scope of the budget which has been approved 
by Full Council. 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 
A Notes: 

 
i) An unfavourable variation against the approved Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) operational /controllable budget of £435,000 representing 0.82 per 
cent of the gross HRA budget. 
 

ii) A favourable non-operational variance of £3,379,000 representing 6.83 
per cent of gross HRA budget which includes adjustments to capital 
programme financing as a result of the re-alignment of budgets in the 
housing capital programme which reduces the anticipated direct 
revenue contribution required in 2018/19. 

 

40

Agenda Item 11



B Notes the forecast balances at 31 March 2019, of £13,307,000 in respect of the 
HRA and nil in respect of the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR). 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the approved HRA 

Business Plan and acknowledges the operational variations in light of the 
challenges the Council may face in this financial year and future years. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. This report sets out the Council’s financial performance against the agreed 

2018/19 HRA Budget and provides an indication of the outturn projection as at 
31 March 2019. 

 
2. The Council approved a minimum revenue balance of £4,000,000 in 2018/19, 

£1,500,000 of which is held as a provision against any additional expenditure 
required as a result of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry. Phase One of the 
Inquiry completed in December 2018 and Phase 2 is not anticipated to 
commence until Autumn 2019. 

 
3. The 2018/19 HRA original estimate anticipated a working balance on the HRA of 

£4,755,000 at 31 March 2019. The current position which has been impacted by 
capital programme decisions and re-alignment of elements within it resulted in 
the actual opening balance at 1 April 2018 being £14,104,000 and the forecast 
balance at 31 March 2019 being £13,307,000. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
Variances 
 
4. The projected operational variance for 2018/19 is showing a £435,000 

overspend, the key variations are detailed below with a more detailed analysis 
shown at Appendix A: 
 

a) Rent income has been overstated in the 2018/19 budget due to an 
increase in the number of void properties received, and an increase in 
the number requiring major works which has resulted in longer void 
periods. 
 

b) An unfavourable variance of £181,000 in respect garage income due to 
the number of void garages held. Unfortunately, the trend has 
continued over the last two to three years due to a reduced overall 
demand for garages in Harlow. The Garage Strategy and Improvement 
Plan identifies priorities for disposal, improvement, and management 
aligned to the Council’s regeneration priorities. A review of the Garage 
Strategy and Improvement Plan is undertaken annually aligned with the 

41



level of Housing Revenue Account Business Plan resources. On 24 
January 2019, Cabinet approved the reduction of rents for those 
garages which are not in the ‘Retain and Invest’ category. 

 
c) Increases in forecast electricity and gas costs have resulted in 

additional costs in the HRA which are in part recoverable from tenants 
and leaseholders. 

 
5. At 31 March 2018 there was a nil balance on the MRR. The estimated 

depreciation charge for 2018/19 following a review is anticipated to be 
£9,940,000 (original Estimate: £11,439,000) and is expected to be used in full to 
support the Housing Capital Programme. 

 
6. The regulations require that the MRR balance can be used either to finance the 

capital programme or to repay housing debt. The HRA Business Plan 2018-48 to 
be approved by Full Council in February 2019, states that external borrowing will 
be renewed on maturity in March 2026 and hence MRR is being applied to 
finance capital expenditure. 

 
HRA Balances 2018/19 

 
7. The Original Estimate for 2018/19 anticipated an opening working balance on 1 

April 2018 of £8,272,000 and closing working balance at 31 March 2019 of 
£4,755,000. However, following the closure of the 2017/18 accounts, the actual 
working balance brought forward was £14,104,000, as reported to Cabinet on 19 
July 2018. The increased balance was due to an under spend in the Housing 
Capital Programme in 2017/18 and therefore reduction in the direct revenue 
contribution required. 
 

8. The balance on the HRA in 2018/19 is impacted by changes to the Housing 
Capital Programme during the year in response to changing priorities. This is 
reflected through the direct revenue contribution from the HRA to support capital 
work. 
 

Table 1 – Quarter 3 HRA Working Balance 
 

 £’000 

Actual balance in hand 1 April 2018 14,104 

Original estimate deficit (-)3,518 

Revenue Carryovers 2017/18 (-)222 

Appendix A:  

Q3 Operational variances       (-)435 

Q3 Non Operational variances        3,379 

Projected Working Balance at 31 March 2019 13,307 

 
9. The anticipated Working Balance at 31 March 2019 is £13,307,000, against an 

original estimate of £4,755,000. 
 
 
 

42



Significant Risks/Opportunities 
 
10. The following risks (all of which are subject to review) have been identified which 

could affect the HRA Business Plan: 
 

a) The outcome of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry on landlords across 
the country. 
 

b) Outcomes from national housing policy relating to the sale of larger 
properties in support of Registered Social Landlord (RSL) Right to Buy 
proposals, and future rental income legislative parameters. The 
Government’s Green Paper, ‘A New Deal for Housing’ (August 2018), 
proposes that this policy will be abandoned, and legislation will be 
repealed in due course. In July 2015, the Government announced a 
legislative requirement for social landlords to decrease rents annually 
by one percent over four financial years (2016/17 – 2019/20). This 
challenged councils to make efficiencies in order to deliver sustainable 
services. It has now been announced that the uplift over the following 
five financial years will be CPI +1 per cent. 
 

c) Welfare Reform: the Government’s reduction in benefits to non-working 
families may have an adverse impact on tenants’ ability to pay rent. 
Additionally, the County Council has reduced Housing Related Support 
to the Council. 
 

d) Continuing development of a Capital Programme to deliver decent 
homes in partnership with contractors, and the need to deal with 
unexpected outcomes, such as fire safety and regulation, especially in 
light of constraints arising from the reduction in rental income from 
2016/17. 
 

e) The Homeless Reduction Act that was implemented on the 1 April 2018 
increased the legal duties on Councils to take steps to prevent families 
from becoming homeless and to intervene at an earlier stage. The Act 
continues to have financial implications on the Council, in terms of the 
increased numbers and cost of Temporary Accommodation. 
 

f) The Government has introduced new plans to fix the “broken housing 
market and build more homes across England”. This includes 
measures to: 
 

i) Reduce the obstacles to house building and help local   
authorities, developers and Small and Medium Enterprise builders 
build the homes Britain needs. 
 

ii) Publish a consultation paper on the reforming of Right to Buy 
Receipts, which will allow Local authorities to hold receipts for 
longer than the three years which is currently allowed and which 
is currently out to consultation. 
 

43



iii) Removing the Housing Borrowing Cap. The Government removed 
the cap in the Autumn Budget on 29 October 2018. Details of its 
application are to follow. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – HRA Operational Variances, Period 9 
Appendix B – Housing Revenue Account Budget Summary 2018/19, Period 9 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
MRR – Major Repairs Reserve 
 

  

44



APPENDIX A 
    HRA Operational Variances                                        Period 9  

  
   

  

Item Adverse Favourable Net 
Main contributing Factors to 
Variations 

  £000's £000's £000's   
 
General Management 

 
        (-)148 (-)148 

Net vacancy savings on salaries due to 
delays in recruitment and staff 
reorganisation 

General Management         104  104 Additional forecast HTS pension 
contribution. 

General Management           (-)147 (-)147   Reduction in compensation related 
payments to tenants for the Priority 
Estates project. 

General Management 69  69 Estimated cost of Council House 
Building officer for 2018/19 and 
proportion of the cost of the Energy 
Manager to the HRA. 

General Management  (-)85 (-)85 Anticipated tenant moving incentives 
not required. 

General Management 164  164 Increase in Insurance premiums on 
Leasehold properties  

General Management          90  90 HTS contract BMI uplift from 3% to 
3.7% effect on Repairs and 
Maintenance and Service Charges. 

Repairs and Maintenance 449             449 Movement of capital saving on 
surveyors to revenue under the TUPE 
transfer. 

Special Management 40  40 Increase in costs of Supporting People 
in the General Fund and estimated 
income for HRS Support charges due 
to the HRA not achieved. 

Special Management 76  76 Increase in estimated fuel costs for heating 
and communal lighting to Sheltered 
Properties 

Special Management 48  48 Increase in anticipated cost of communal 
lighting. 

Special Management 44  44 Impact of anticipated gas price rises on 
cost of communal heating due to new 
contract. 

Repairs & Maintenance            (-)37 (-)37 Lower anticipated expenditure on the 
maintenance of lifts. 

Dwelling Rents 288  288 Rental income reduced by increased 
number of void properties received 
that require major works. 

Garage Rents 181  181 Lower income from garage rents due 
to a higher level of void garages. 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

 (-)170 (-)170 Income from Insurance due to the higher 
than estimated premium for 2018/19 

 (-)170 (-)170 Income from Insurance due to the higher than 
estimated premium for 2018/19 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

        (-)49 (-)49 Income from Sheltered tenants due to 
estimated increase in fuel costs. 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

            (-)36 (-)36 Increase in income due to estimated 
increase in electricity for lighting. 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

 (-)41 (-)41 Income due from tenant and leasehold 
heating due to anticipated fuel price 
increases. 

45



Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

 (-)79 (-)79 Anticipated increase in income due from 
repairs and maintenance and estimated  
management fee. 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

 (-)68 (-)68 Anticipated increase in income from other 
service charges. 

Rent Rates and Taxes 13  13 Council tax payable on voids including 
long term structural voids. 

Bad debt provision            (-)100 (-)100 Anticipated reduction in provision required 
for 2018/19. 

Interest Receivable             (-)48 (-)48 Due to higher working balance and 
carryover of capital programme. 

Other minor variances                  (-)123 (-)123   

      

Deficit/ (Surplus) for year 
    1,566       (-)1,131          435 

Net adverse 

      

 
 
 
     

Non Operational Variances     

Item Adverse Favourable Net  

  £000's £000's £000's  
 
 
Direct Revenue Financing   
of Capital Expenditure 

 

 
 
 
                

 
 

(-)1,328 

 
 
 (-)1,328 

 
 
Consequential movement to projected 
capital expenditure for the financial 
year. 

Direct Revenue Financing   
of Capital Expenditure 

 (-)449 (-)449 Movement of capital saving on 
surveyors to revenue under the TUPE 
transfer. 

Major Repairs Reserve 
(depreciation) 

   (-)1,499  (-)1,499 Reduction in estimated depreciation 
for 2018/19 based on the latest 
valuation received. 

Leasehold Income      (-)103     (-)103 Higher income resulting from external 
and other works in the Housing Capital 
Programme 

Variance   (-)3,379 (-)3,379 Net favourable 

          

 
HRA Operational Variance        £  435,000 
HRA Non Operational Variance    (-)£3,379,000 
TOTAL Projected in year HRA Deficit      (-)£2,944,000 

  

46



APPENDIX B 
   

  

  

 
 

 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 Variance 

 
 

Original 
Estimate 

Current 
Estimate* 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Current 
Estimate to 

Forecast 
Outturn 

 
 £ £ £ £ 

 
       

EXPENDITURE        

General Management  11,148,750 11,336,751 11,674,244           337,493 

Special Management  7,350,377 7,353,273 7,421,029            67,756 

Repairs  10,090,160 10,121,085 10,246,355 125,270 

Rent, Rates, Taxes  35,000 35,000 47,500 12,500 

Provision for Bad & Doubtful Debts  300,000 300,000 200,000 (-)100,000 
Supporting People Transitional 
Arrangements  5,300 5,300 5,300 0 

Major Repairs Reserve  11,439,000 11,439,000 9,940,000 (-)1,499,000 

Debt Management Expenses  16,520 16,520 16,520 0 

Interest Charges  6,669,000 6,669,000 6,686,000 17,000 
Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 
Programme  5,914,000 5,914,000 4,137,000 (-)1,777,000 

 
 52,968,108 53,189,929  50,373,948    (-)2,815,981 

 
     

INCOME      

Dwelling Rents  43,175,000 43,175,000 42,886,640 288,360 

Garage Rents  1,142,000 1,142,000 960,785           181,215 

Other Rents  65,150 65,150 66,150 (-)1,000 

Charges for Services & Facilities  5,005,995 5,005,995 5,554,277 (-)548,282 

Interest Receivable  62,075 62,075 110,011 (-)47,936 

 
 49,450,220 49,450,220  49,577,863       (-)127,643 

 
       

Balance in hand at 1 April  8,272,415 14,103,542 14,103,542 0 

Surplus / (Deficit) for year  (-)3,517,888 (-)3,739,709 (-)796,085 (-)2,943,624 

Balance in hand at 31 March  4,754,527 10,363,833 13,307,457 2,943,624 

 
        

  

  

  *Current Estimate 2018/19 includes revenue carryovers from 2017/18, £222,000. 
Cabinet 19 July noted actual balance in hand at 1 April 2018. 

47



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019 

TITLE: 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES, QUARTER 3 FINANCE 
REPORT 2018/19 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON, DEPUTY 
LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
HOUSING 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 
(01279) 446228 
 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD (01279) 446004 

 
This is not a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008582 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The recommendations are within the scope of the budget which has been approved 
by Full Council. 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 
A Notes the progress in the delivery of the Council’s Housing and Non-Housing 

Capital Programmes as at Quarter 3 (30 December 2018) as follows: 
 

i) Housing Capital Programme –forecast outturn of £17,165,000 (original 
estimate £18,804,000). 
 

ii) Non-Housing Capital Programme – forecast outturn of £10,378,000 
(original estimate £15,250,000). 
 

B Approves the Business Case to restore Netteswell Pond, financed by a grant 
from Essex County Council £66,000 and budget virement from Townwide Flood 
Alleviation £29,000. 

 
C Approves a Business Case to renew the CCTV at the Bus Station at a cost of 

£10,000 to be funded in full from a revenue contribution. 
 
 

48

Agenda Item 12



REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the Council's approved 

2018/19 Housing and Non Housing Capital Programmes. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. This report on the Capital Programme forms part of the suite of budget 

monitoring reports provided to ensure close supervision over the financial 
position throughout the year. 

 
2. In February 2018, Full Council approved a Housing Capital Programme for 

2017/18 totalling £18,804,000 and a Non Housing Capital Programme totalling 
£15,250,000. 

 
3. Carryovers requested for approval at Cabinet in July 2018 in the Housing Capital 

Programme of £5,187,000 and Non Housing Capital Programme of £3,996,000. 
 

4. As reported to Cabinet on 13 September 2018 the Housing Capital Programme 
Budget is £24,551,000. The Non Housing Capital budget is £14,903,000, an 
increase of £176,000 following the addition of grant funding for work to 
Netteswell Pond (£66,000), the allocation of funding from the Town Centre 
Reserve to the Town Centre Public Realm scheme (£100,000) and the budget 
for CCTV work at the Bus Station (£10,000). 

 
5. The Council continues to plan ahead using its Business planning processes to 

establish a short, medium and long term Asset Management Plan with 
Programmes of Works to its housing stock procured effectively as possible to 
realise efficiency, make the best use of resources, and maintain compliance with 
the Government’s Decent Homes Standards, manage the growing complexity it 
meeting local priorities, as well as fulfil its wider regulatory and duties as a 
responsible landlord. 

 
 

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Asset Management Priorities 
 
6. Following the introduction of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) self financing 

in 2012, the Council commenced an ambitious five year Housing Investment 
Programme (HIP) totalling over £100 million as part of its Asset Management 
short terms plans designed to bring all of Council owned housing up to the 
Government’s Decent Homes Standard by 2015. 

 
7. This was achieved and has continued with the modern homes programmes 

completing. Changes were required in 2017/18 recognising increased priorities 
relating to National Fire Regulation, increased costs, and scope, and complexity 
in delivering local priority. It includes replacement of district heating schemes, 

49



energy efficiency programmes, and commencing a programme of Council house 
building within the reducing resources available. 

 
8. The tragic fire at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington in June 2017 focussed 

national attention on fire safety and regulation in tower blocks. Phase One of the 
Public Inquiry came to an end in December 2018 with Phase Two not expected 
to commence until Autumn 2019. Whilst the Hackett Review into Building 
Regulations and Fire Safety was published in May 2018, the Government 
response is still awaited. 

 
9. In 2017/18 a review of the Council’s tower block fire risk assessments confirmed 

that all blocks were inherently safe. The budget for 2018/19 includes schemes 
which respond to the conclusions of the Hackett Report and also provides 
funding for fire risk works as they are identified. 

 
10. The budget for Fire Safety is £1,746,000. This has enabled the Council to tackle  

more complex works to ensure the Council’s asset remain safe and align to 
Building Regulation, and Statutory/Regulatory requirements both in the short 
and long term. Works continue to be identified through inspection regimes, Fire 
Risk Assessments and advice from the Ministry of Housing, Community and 
Local Government (MHCLG).  With ongoing testing still being undertaken and 
the updates still pending from Phase 2 of the Hackett review there will be a 
requirement to carryover £996,000 in to 2019/20. 
 

11. The previous external works programme being undertaken by Mulalley and 
Company is nearing completion. The majority of sites have now been handed 
back as completed and signed off, however a limited number of sites remain 
open.  The additional health and safety related works that were referred to within 
the previous report to Cabinet have now been quantified and signed off by 
Building Control and instructed. These works will be funded from within the 
existing budget however, as the contract is set to pay on completion of the full 
task order value and requires all site to have been handed over complete prior to 
the final payment being made, a carryover of funding of £582,000 will be 
required. 
 

12. The Council is developing a new five year HIP programme in response to the 
above and constraints around future resources which includes the development 
of targeted works programmes. The process of procuring the new phase of 
targeted external works to a number of priority sites across the town continues. 
The first such works packages, relating to The Hides and The Hornbeams are 
now on site.  Procurement is only resourced to deliver £18 million per annum. 
Therefore the full planned programme of works is not now expected to complete 
until 2019/20 requiring an anticipated carryover of £2.8 million. 
 

13. Significantly, the Council received a Government grant under their round 1 
funding to tackle Rough Sleepers at Harlow in support of its wider housing 
strategy.  As part of the action plan, The Council has undertaken the 
refurbishment of 1 and 2 Bromley Cottages as “move on” Temporary 
Accommodation in partnership with Streets2Homes.  Works are due to complete 
in early March. The original cost of works was £174,000 but due to unforeseen 

50



works identified through the build process the anticipated outturn is now 
expected to be in the region of £200,000.  The Council is waiting to hear if it has 
been successful in its bid for further funding under the Government’s round 2. 

 
Building Council Homes 
 
14. The Council is developing a programme to build new council homes within its 

HRA, funded from retained pooled receipts and, when appropriate, external 
borrowing.  This includes: 
 

a) Temporary Accommodation – An increase in the number of bed spaces 
available for Temporary Accommodation. This will result in an 
additional one bed unit, a two bed unit and four additional bedrooms, 
for both general needs and temporary accommodation. The work is 
expected to commence January 2019, with progress subject to weather 
conditions. 
 

b) Sumners Farm Close – Planning determination is still pending following 
advice received from the County Council Historic Buildings and 
Conservation Advice which has raised questions relating to the 
proposed scheme which officers are working through with Planners. 
 

c) The Readings – The construction of three units, approved by Cabinet 6 
December, preparatory costs in 2018/19 (£75,000). 
 

d) Bushey Croft and Elm Hatch – Work will commence in 2018/19. 
 

e) Lister House site, Perry Road – Work is planned to commence late 
2019/20. 

 
15. Set out in Table 1 below is the likely pattern of expenditure. 
 
Table 1 – Council Home Building Programme. Figures £’000 
 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

onwards 
Total 

 

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

E
s
t.

 

C
u

rr
e
n

t 

E
s
t.

 

F
o

re
c
a

s
t 

C
a
rr

y
 

O
v
e
r 

N
e
w

 

N
e
w

 

 

Existing programme        

Sumners Farm Close 500 500 50 450  - 500 

Temporary Accommodation 281 304 153 151  - 304 

Planned programme        

The Readings   75  560 271 906 

Bushey Croft   78  2,621 503 3,202 

Elm Hatch   12  - 4,181 4,193 

Lister House site / Perry Road   -  31 11,851 11,882 

Total 781 804 368 3,813 16,806 20,987 

 
 

51



Heating Systems Replacement 
 
16. In 2017/18 Cabinet approved a contract for HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd 

to deliver the replacement of four District Heating Schemes. The original 
programme of installation was delayed until after the winter season and the 
budget of £1,412,000 carried forward to 2018/19. The anticipated outturn is 
£1,125,000. 
 

17. Alongside the Heating System Replacement programme a programme of urgent 
works was put in place to install new gas ‘wet’ system boilers and heating 
systems and to decommission the associated air ducts in tower blocks. This 
work affects five tower blocks (Stort, Moor, Edmund, Willowfield and Nicholls).  
Due to the complex nature of the work the replacement programme commenced 
with a pilot scheme at Willowfield Tower in August 2018, works are due to 
complete by the end of March 2019, with a forecast outturn of £545,000, and a 
carryover of £508,000 to enable further works to be carried out in 2019/20. 
 

18. Over the five sites the work affects 248 individual properties (140 tenanted, 108 
leaseholders), and includes consultation with residents. Full completion of the 
project across all tower blocks is currently forecasted for March 2020. 
 

19. At its meeting on 19 July 2018 Cabinet approved a tender of £2,360,000 to 
enable the replacement of communal boilers during the summer months in 
Sheltered schemes, as part of the Heating System Replacement programme, 
(original budget £1,700,000). Due to the complex nature of works and 
requirement to extend the scope of works identified during the build process, 
costs have increased and the anticipated outturn is £2,427,000.  Works continue 
to progress well with handover of all sites anticipated by mid-March. 

 
Housing ICT 
 
20. Each year Cabinet approves a programme of Housing IT enhancements as part 

of the wider housing capital programme. This has included replacement modules 
for Asset Management, Responsive Repairs, as well as upgrades and interfaces 
to and from the Orchard Housing Management system, the allocated budget is 
£463,000 plus a requested carryover of £153,000, focuses on improving and 
enhancing Homelessness Management together with customer access. This 
programme will be phased over three years with an anticipated outturn in 
2018/19 of £162,000. 

 
 
HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 
 
21. The Housing Capital Programme in 2018/19 will continue to deliver the 

investment priorities for the Council’s housing assets outlined in the approved 
HRA Business Plan 2017-2047. The governance around Programme and 
Project management remains robust and the Council continues to monitor 
contract performance and delivery making adjustments to the programme as the 
year proceeds. 
 

52



22. Table 2 below provides a summary of the approved Housing Capital 
Programme. It includes carry forwards from 2017/18 and is the current projection 
of expenditure to 31 March 2019. 

 
Table 2 – Housing Capital Programme Projection as at Period 9 
 

2018-19 Budget Stage £000s Date Approved 

Original budget 18,804 1 Feb 18 

Carryovers from 2017/18   5,187 19 July 18 

Other additions / adjustments      560  

Revised Current Budget  24,551  13 Sept 18 

HTS Carryover 2019/20 
(-)2,048 

 

Carryovers to 2019/20 
(-)5,548 

 

New build carryovers 
   (-)601 

 

Additional expenditure 
      811 

 

 
Forecast Outturn   17,165 

 

 
23. Table 3 below provides a more detailed view of the approved Housing Capital 

Programme. As a result of the current forecast it is expected that Direct 
Revenue Financing required from the HRA will be £4,137,000. 

 
Table 3 – Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 
 Original 

Budget 
Current 
Budget 

with 
carryovers 

Projected 
Outturn 

Variance 
Current 
Budget 

(Projected 
Outturn 

Report 
Ref. 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £000  

Expenditure      

Council Home Building 781 804 368 (-)436 Table 1 

 
Internal Works 4,351 4,518 3,427 (-)1,091 24i 

 
Windows & Doors    100   370   379               9  

External Works         3,732 7,705 4,461      (-)3,244 

Para 
11, 12 
& 24iv  

Environment Work 0 0 125 
            

125 24ii 

Damp & Structural 
Works 200 200 200      0  

Other Works: Lifts 
Asbestos, Garages,  1,400 1,547 1,681      134 24v & vi 

53



 Original 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

with 
carryovers 

Projected 
Outturn 

Variance 
Current 
Budget 

(Projected 
Outturn 

Report 
Ref. 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £000  

Electrical Upgrades & 
Fire Safety 500 997 435 

 
(-)562 24vii 

Fire Safety Regulation – 
SE Ducts removal 1,053 1,053 545            (-)508 Para 17 

Fire Safety & Regulation 
– Other work  1,590 1,746 750    (-)996 Para 10 

 
Energy Efficiency  3,312 3,816 3,783 (-)33 16 &19 

Disabled Adaptations 900 1,079          649     (-)430 24viii 

 
Surveyors Fees 422 0 0 0 24iii 

 
Bromley Cottages 0 100 200 100 13 

Housing IT 
Development 463 616 162 (-)454 20 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 18,804 24,551 17,165  (-)7,386 
 

Financed by:      

Capital Receipts: Right 
to Buy (-)1,217 (-)1,217 (-)1,217 0 

 

Retained Receipts (-)234 (-)242 (-)95 147  

Unapplied Receipts 0 (-)1,535 (-)1,535 0 

 

Major Repairs Reserve (-)11,439 (-)12,320 (-)9,940 2,380 

 

Rough Sleeper Grant 0 (-)100 (-)116    (-)16 
 

Environment Reserve 0 0 (-)125 (-)125 
 

Direct Revenue 
Contribution (-)5,914 (-)9,137 (-)4,137            5,000 

 

TOTAL FINANCING (-)18,804 (-)24,551 (-)17,165 7,386 

 

 
24. Table 3 revised current budget reflects the following: 

 
a) The variance for internal works of £1,091,000 includes anticipated 

carryovers arising within the HTS programme of work, set out in Table 
4. 
 

b) A programme of Environmental works is being undertaken across the 
town funded from Reserves as approved by Council 1 February 2018. 
Some of the works are to HRA areas, so the cost is therefore reported 
in the Capital Programme. 
 

c) The establishment of a Technical Services Team within the HRA is 
funded in part from a reduction in surveyor’s fees. 

54



 
d) Urgent external roofing works at Hookfield and Dellfield Court require 

an additional budget of £180,000 which will be recouped in part from 
leasehold contributions to the work being undertaken. However, this 
work will now be carried over for completion in 2019/20.  
 

e) The increased expenditure (£350,000) for asbestos is as a direct result 
of works being identified whilst undertaking various capital 
improvements to both individual and block works across the town. Due 
to the complex nature of the works currently being undertaken as part 
of this year’s Programme the Council has been required to carry out 
extensive testing and additional removal. 
 

f) A review of the works included in this year’s Capital Programme and 
reprioritisation of schemes within the Programme has resulted in an 
increase to works on tenanted garages at an additional cost of £86,000. 
However, a carryover of £57,000 is anticipated due to the allocation of 
carryover and original budgets between the HRA and General Fund 
capital programmes. 
 

g) Since 2013, the Council has installed a large number of composite fire 
doors to its properties that meet Building Regulations and were fit-for-
purpose at that time of installation. Following recent advice from the 
MHCLG regarding the safety of composite fire doors, the Council has 
taken the decision to suspend new Fire Door installations to all 
properties. The Council is awaiting further guidance from MHCLG to 
clarify the specific door models that are deemed to require further 
testing and to recommend a suitable replacement product, if required, 
for the doors that may need to be replaced. The guidance received 
from MHCLG has confirmed that the risk posed from the installation of 
composite fire doors is low. The Council will be commencing a further 
programme of Fire Risk Assessments within this financial year starting 
with all tower blocks over six floors. The budget for new Fire Door 
installations within the Capital Programme has been transferred to the 
budget for “Other works” until further guidance and test results are 
received from MHCLG. 
 

h) The Programme to install aids and adaptations in tenanted properties is 
demand led and works schedules are subject to detailed specification.  
Requests continue to be received and to ensure the Council 
commitment to this Programme can be realised it is expected to 
carryover £410,000 to complete planned works in 2019/20. 

 
25. From February 1 2017, HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd, a subsidiary 

company of the Council, were contracted to undertake a range of housing 
related works including compliance, energy and efficiency, windows and doors, 
garage and disabled facility works to council dwellings. 
 

26. The 2018/19 HTS work programme has been realigned as part of the three year 
delivery of planned works. Details of the 2018/19 budget are reported in Table 4. 

55



Table 4 – HTS (Property & Environment) Ltd., Work Packages 2018/19 
 

Work Packages Current 
Contract 

2018/19 
Projected 
Outturn 

Carryover 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Internals 3,380                
2,423 

(-)957 

Aids & Adaptations 900 490 (-)410 

Compliance 757 194 (-)563 

Contingency 227 227 0 

Windows and Doors 266 275                 0 

Communal Boilers 
            

1,125 
               

1,125 0 

Energy Efficiency 330 269 (-)61 

Garage Doors 50 50 0 

Garage Doors Carryover 
17/18 (rev’d HRA/GF 
allocation 

 
85 

 
53 

 
57 

Lift Replacement 122 122 0 

Bromley Cottages 174 200 0 

TOTAL 7,342 5,427 (-)2,048  

 
27. The Housing Capital Programme delivered 48,200 new components such as 

windows, doors, kitchens, bathrooms and boilers in dwellings between 1 April 
2013 and 31 March 2018, with a further 2,787 planned by 31 March 2019. 
 

28. The Council only pays for completed work when it is signed off by an 
independent clerk of works. There is a time lag, however, with this invoicing due 
to the necessary requirement that works can only be invoiced once they are 
satisfactorily completed and all associated paperwork/certification (gas, electric, 
asbestos etc.) is compiled and formally handed over. The Council is committed 
to prompt payment once these processes have been completed. 
 

29. The original estimate approved by Council 1 February 2018 assumes 50 “Right 
to Buy” (RTB) sales in 2018/19. Thirty-three RTB disposals had been completed 
by 30 December 2018. 
 

30. At 31 March 2018 there was a nil balance on the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR). 
Under proper accounting practice, the charge to the HRA for depreciation is 
projected to be £9,940,000 (original estimate £11,439,000) in 2018/19. At year 
end this is transferred to the MRR which, in turn, is utilised to support the 
Housing Capital Programme. 

 
Non-Housing Capital Programme 
 
31. Full Council on 1 February 2018 approved a Non Housing Capital Programme of 

£15,250,000, which included major works at the Enterprise Zone and Prentice 
Place. See Table 5 below: 

 

56



Table 5 – Non Housing Capital Programme as at Period 9 
 

2018-19 Budget Stage £’000s Date Approved 

Original budget (Core) 3,946 1 Feb 18 

Enterprise Zone 8,031  

Prentice Place 3,273  

Approved budget       15,250  

Carryovers 2017/18        3,996 19 July 18 

Deferral of EZ expenditure to 2019/20  
and other minor forecast adjustments 

    (-)4,519  

Revised Current Budget      14,727 13 Sept 18 

Town Centre Funding          100 Annex A12 

Netteswell Pond            66 Annex A14 

Bus Station CCTV            10  

Current budget     14,903  

Carryovers / Estimates 2019-20    (-)3,509 24.1.19  

Carryovers at year end      (-)756 Para 39 

Other income/expenditure variations      (-)260  

Projected outturn at 31.3.19     10,378  

 
32. Further details of expenditure relating to projects are contained within Annex A 

to this report, together with financing implications related to these. 
 

33. Estimated capital receipts from asset disposals in 2018/19 (original estimate 
£824,000) are not expected to proceed due to the move towards council house 
building. However, income is anticipated in relation to the disposal of land for the 
new motorway junction (£11,000). 
 

34. The Council has been awarded a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) for 2018/19 of 
£740,000 from the MHCLG. This increases the budget available by £205,000, 
however expenditure is determined by demand and is currently forecast at 
£477,000, (original estimate of £535,000).   
 

35. A review of the works to garages included in this year’s capital programme 
resulted in a reprioritisation of schemes and a reduction in work attributable to 
non tenanted garages. The anticipated outturn is therefore £67,000 (original 
estimate £242,000) with an expected carryover of £252,000, based on the 
revised allocation and outturn of costs between the HRA and General Fund 
capital works. 
 

36. Estimated internal borrowing to support the core programme in 2018/19 is 
£2,394,000 (original estimate £2,010,000). The increase is due to approved 
capital and revenue carryovers from 2017/18, plus amendments to budgets in 
2018/19. 
 

37. In addition there is estimated internal borrowing of £5,790,000 in line with the 
current forecast of expenditure in 2018/19 for the Enterprise Zone. 

57



 
38. Work to Prentice Place in 2018/19 will be funded from ring-fenced capital 

receipts in 2018/19 due to delays to the programme of work necessitating an 
anticipated carryover of £2,348,000 to 2019/20. 
 

39. In addition to the carryovers included in the estimates for 2019/20 a further 
estimated £756,000 has been identified to be carried over at year end. This is 
due to delays in progressing schemes as planned and uncertainty over the 
future use of some assets. 
 

40. Details of the Non-Housing Capital Programme expenditure and financing are 
given in Table 6 below. 

 
Table 6 – Non-Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 

 Original 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
Outturn 

to 
Current 
Budget 

Report 
Ref. 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Expenditure:      

Place Services 2,630 3,456 2,487 (-)969 A9-17 

Governance 15 0 0 0  

Finance 236 236 236 0 A4 

Community 
Wellbeing 1065 1,338 863 (-)475 A5-8 

Subtotal Core 
Programme 3,943 5,030 3,586 (-)1,444  

Prentice Place 3,273 3,350 1,002 (-)2,348 A18 

Enterprise Zone 8,031 6,523 5,790 (-)733 A19 

Sub total 11,304 9,873 6,792 (-)3,081  

      

Total Expenditure 15,250 14,903 10,378 (-)4,525  

      

Financed by:      

Capital Receipts / 
Right to Buy (-)205 (-)205 (-)205 0  

 
Asset Disposals (-)824 (-)624 (-)11 613 Para 33 

 
Earmarked 
Resources (-)100 (-)209 (-)209 0  

Direct Revenue 
Contribution (-)242 (-)630 (-)250 380 

A12/ 
para 35 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant (-)535 (-)466 (-)477 (-)11  

Renovation Loans 
& Contributions (-)30 (-)25 (-)40 (-)15  

58



Prentice Place 
capital receipt (-)1,519 (-)1,595 (-)1,002 593  

Prentice Place 
borrowing (-)1,755 (-)1,755 0 1,755  

Enterprise Zone 
Internal borrowing (-)8,030 (-)6,523 (-)5,790 733  

 
Prudential 
borrowing (-)2,010 (-)2,871 (-)2,394 477  

      

Total Financing (-
)15,250 

(-
)14,903 (-)10,378 4,525  

 

Impact of Prudential Borrowing £’000s 

Borrowing to support Non Housing Capital Programme as at 
31 March 2018 

 
9,535 

New borrowing to finance shortfall in Non Housing Capital 
Programme, 2018/19 

 
8,184 

Borrowing to support Non Housing Capital Programme 
as at 31 March 2019 

 
17,719 

 
Risks and Opportunities 
 
41. There is national concern about fire safety and regulation in tower blocks in the 

wake of the Grenfell Tower fire. The outcomes from the Inquiry are likely to have 
far reaching consequences, with a potential requirement to totally recast the 
housing capital programme of works during 2019/20. 
 

42. Key risks in the delivery of the HIP are the performance of contractors and the 
Council’s capacity to deliver a housing capital programme revised in light of 
changing priorities and funding available from the HRA. The Council’s 
management of the appointed contractor for these works has been subject to an 
Internal Audit which reported a ‘Substantial Assurance’ outcome in December 
2016. 
 

43. Housing capital funding is affected by reducing rents until 2020. 
 

44. Key risks in the Non Housing Capital Programme are centred on the implications 
for the Asset Management Plan and for future capital budgets and income 
generation following the completion of the Stock Condition Surveys. 
 

45. An additional risk in the Non Housing Capital Programme is the cost of removing 
asbestos as works are undertaken. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

59



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Annex A – Capital Programmes Quarter 3 Finance Report, 2018/19 – Update on the 
Status of Capital Projects 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
HIP – Housing Investment Programme 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MRR – Major Repairs Reserve 
RTB – Right to Buy 

  

60



ANNEX A 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES QUARTER 3 FINANCE REPORT, 2018/19 
Update on the Status of Capital Projects 

 
Housing Capital Programme 
 

A1. T Expenditure on the Mulalley External Works Programme (budget carried over 
from 2017-18) remains low at the end of Quarter 3, however in line with 
commentary provided at the end of Quarter 2 some significant movement is 
now being seen, with the December Valuation Certified at c.£1.1m.  As 
previously reported this is a result of the contractual payment mechanism 
associated with three large schemes within the Task Order (Longbanks, 
Moorfields and Northbrook’s) payments on these schemes only become due 
once all elements of works to an entire block are accepted as complete and 
handed over. 
 
We anticipate further significant expenditure through to the end of Quarter 4 
and whilst we continue to pursue a cautious approach to assumptions in 
respect of commercial risks, current re-forecasting anticipates that the 
programme will be delivered within the current budget allocation. 
 
Procurement of the new phase of External Works is progressing with the first 
contract awards made in November.  Tender, decision making and 
consultation periods associated with the works prioritised for this programme 
will mean that it will be necessary for a significant proportion of the attendant 
budget to be carried into 2019-20.  The phasing of works and financial out-
turn expectations for the current financial year are being re-cast on a monthly 
basis and currently foretell a carry-over of c. £2.6m.  The current programme 
suggests that works are now likely to run into Quarter 3 of the financial year 
2019-20.  . 
 

A2.  ANNUAL SERVICE CHARGE (ASC) Fixed Prices 
 
Works to the ASC fixed prices for 2018/19 commenced on the 1 April 2018.  
The number of units completed at end of December is shown in the table 
below.  
 
Performance shows an adverse variance of £94,418 collectively against the 
three work streams for the month of December against the 12 months 
profiled budget.  The variance against the profiled spend is as a result of the 
exceptionally high demand for boiler replacements and Kitchens. Bathrooms 
now form part of the ASC fixed priced items as agreed with 6 having been 
completed to date.  Due to the exceptionally high demand for fixed priced 
items the Council continues, where possible to capitalise major works and 
structural voids where the scope of works dictates. The Council is currently 
considering how the demand for decent homes works can be supported by 
the main Capital Programme of works. Close scrutiny, monthly reporting and 
escalations as appropriate continue in line with the agreed governance 
structure. 

61



 
 

Element 

Total 
Annual 
units 
agreed 

Agreed 
Total ASC 
to date 

Completed 
Units to 
date 

Total 
Value to 
date 

Variance 
to Profiled 
Budget 

Kitchens 84 £409,728 71 £346,318 £39,022 

Re-Wires 45 £107,472 23 £54,930 (-)£25,674 

Boiler/ Heating 142 £439,580 129 £399,337 £69,652 

Bathrooms   6 £11,418 £11,418 

Total  271 £956,780 229 £812,003 £94,418 

 
 

Non-Housing Capital Programme 
 

A3.  The completed stock condition survey will enable a 20 year programme 
to be drawn up covering the development or disposal of commercial and 
municipal assets and will help shape and inform the future capital 
investment requirements for the non-housing asset portfolio.   
 

A4.  In Community Wellbeing schemes in 2018/19 include the on-going work 
to refurbish the Playhouse totalling £434,000), schemes in the Town Park 
(£308,000). Work to the Stow in front of the Moot House (£195,000) is 
now expected to carryover to 2019/20. 

  
A5.  Included in the Town Park Schemes is the Inclusive Play Scheme 

approved in 2018/19 with a budget of £200,000 which has secured an 
additional £11,000 from Essex County Council (ECC) for a new footpath 
and footpath improvements. This will assist with the creation of the 
Inclusive Play facility in the Town Park. 
 

A6.  A new van for the Community Rangers is included in the programme with 
a budget of £30,000. Delivery took place in December 2018 with the final 
cost being £22,000. 
  

A7.  Urgent works are required to upgrade the main Council website, £40,000, 
to be funded in part from the approved budget of £20,000 to upgrade 
council websites (approved February 2017). 
 

A8.  Schemes originally approved at the Latton Bush Centre total £361,000 
plus a carryover of £173,000 to support the roofing work. In addition there 
are schemes to replace one of the two boilers (£95,000) and asbestos 
removal work (£50,000). The work on the boiler will now take place in 
2019/20 requiring a carryover of £92,000. 
 

A9.  Home Repairs Assistance Loans (estimate £15,000) are made available 
by the Council to owner occupiers for work to improve their homes.  
 

A10.  The Council’s Commercial portfolio in 2018/19 includes roofing work to 

62



various properties and schemes to refurbish Ladyshot Pavilion (£60,000), 
Bush Fair Offices (£55,000), Barbara Castle Health Centre (£65,000) and 
the Leah Manning Centre (£40,000). Carryovers of £259,000 are 
anticipated to work planned due to the amalgamating of tenders and the 
procurement process. 
 

A11.  The Town Centre Public Realm Improvements scheme (carryover 
£205,000) is expected to complete in 2018/19. To facilitate completion 
the budget is increased by £100,000 from the Town Centre Reserve.  
 
Other works in Place Services include the replacement of the boiler and 
control system at Abercrombie Playbarn (£65,000) in order to replace an 
obsolete and inefficient gas boiler. This will mean that there is reliable 
heating and hot water to the buildings and will also reduce energy usage 
and CO2 emissions. Work to the toilets by Pets Corner in the Town Park 
(£75,000) and the continued restoration work at Oakwood Pond 
(£15,000). 
 

A12.  Renewal of the existing obsolete and inefficient gas boilers providing both 
central heating and hot water to Sumners Leisure Centre is estimated to 
outturn at £78,000, funded from an approved budget of £58,000 and a 
tenant contribution of £20,000. 
 

A13.  A successful bid for grant funding of £66,000 from ECC Flood 
Improvement Fund has resulted in a programme of restoration work 
being carried out at Netteswell Pond. The scheme will include improving 
fishing facilities and flood prevention measures and will be supported by 
a virement of £29,000 from the Townwide Flood Alleviation budget, giving 
a total scheme budget of £95,000. 
 

A14.  At Harlow Museum health and safety works are planned for 2018/19 
(£20,000) with the remaining approved budget included in the estimates 
for 2019/20 (£180,000). 
 

A15.  A budget for Energy Performance Certificates (£26,000) will enable 
capital works to upgrade commercial properties to meet the minimum E 
EPC rating in line with the Energy Act (2011) and EU legislation which 
came into force 1 April 2018. This will increase the sustainability of the 
commercial portfolio as the regulations will apply from the granting or 
renewing of leases to tenants. By 2023 properties leased with less than 
an E rating will be subject to a penalty payment. 
 

A16.  The CCTV at the Bus Station is no longer fit for purpose and unable to 
provide the quality of image required for evidential purposes. Replacing 
the system will cost £10,000 financed from a revenue contribution and is 
expected to be completed by 31.3.19. The budget and financing will be 
included in the outturn report for 2018/19. 
 

A17.  The Regeneration of Prentice Place was approved by Cabinet 31 March 
2016 and a business case included in the Non Housing Capital 

63



Programme 2017/18.  A carryover from 2017/18 of £76,000 results in a 
budget for 2018/19 of £3,350,000. However, the work has been delayed 
due to complications to the adopted road works at the rear and the main 
sub-contractor going into administration which means that there is an 
expected carryover of £2,348,000 to 2019/20.  The work undertaken in 
2018/19 will be financed from ring fenced capital receipts (total 
£1,595,000).    
 

A18.  The Council is undertaking a major project to construct premises on the 
Enterprise Zone with expenditure of £4.195m in 2017/18 and a current  
estimate of £5.79m 2018/19 (original estimate £6.523m). The lower 
spend in 2018/19 is forecast based on a delay to the start of construction 
work and an updated schedule of works. The project from 2018/19 will 
be funded from borrowing. Income will be generated through future 
business rate receipts. 

 

64



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019 

TITLE: 
 

HTS (PROPERTY AND ENVIRONMENT) LIMITED 
CONTRACT AWARDS 2019/20 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR HOUSING 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING (01279) 
446676 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

WENDY MAKEPEACE, SENIOR HOUSING 
OPERATIONS MANAGER (01279) 446342 

 
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I009744 
Call-in Procedures may apply 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The following Business Cases are awarded to HTS (Property and Environment) 

Ltd subject to clarification and agreement on the terms and conditions, and that 
separate contracts are entered into for each activity not exceeding the values set 
out below: 
 

a) Internal Works £930,000 
b) Aids and Adaptations £900,000 
c) Compliance £1,800,000 
d) Environmental Estate Works £100,000 
e) External Works £320,000 
f) Garages £350,000 
g) Communal Boilers and Heating £1,400,000 
 
TOTAL 

 
£5,800,000 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A To enable the Council to implement the Housing Revenue Account Asset 

Management plans and to continue its programme of improving its housing 
stock to maintain the Governments Decent Homes Standard, wider Housing 
Investment Programme (HIP) priorities and its statutory obligations. 

 
 
 

65

Agenda Item 13



BACKGROUND 
 
1. On 1 February 2017, the Council established HTS (Property and Environment) 

Ltd (HTS) as a wholly owned Local Authority Trading Company (LATC). 
 

2. In accordance with the new Service Agreement, HTS is required to undertake 
housing capital works programmes as part of the Council’s wider HIP 
programme. A new business case and methodology process was approved 
which required detailed programme of works information to be provided to HTS 
for them to submit a series of Business Cases for the Council to evaluate and 
consider for approval. 

 
BUSINESS CASE 2019/20 
 
3. HTS’ housing capital works allocations total £5.8 million for 2019/20.  This is 

year three allocation as part of a five year programme totalling £29 million up to 
2021/22. This forms part of the Council’s priorities for HTS’ Balanced Scorecard.  
 

4. The published Business Case timetable for submission was 25 January 2019 for 
the Quality Response Document and 1 March 2019 for the priced documents (8 
March for Communal Boilers and Heating), and all Business Cases have now 
been submitted in accordance with the requirements the Service Agreement 
Schedule 2 for capital works approval and governance. 

 
5. The proposals received, in accordance with the prescribed format for Business 

Cases set out within the Service Agreement, includes an analysis of all costs 
and value added benefits associated with the proposal to allow an assessment 
of Value for Money against a set of defined criteria, including but not limited to:  
 

a) Price 
 

b) Evidence of price comparisons and benchmarking 
 

c) Quality of service to be measured against Key Performance Indicators 
(parameters, measurements and targets to be agreed on a work package 
basis) 
 

d) Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) method statement and risk 
assessment 
 

e) Delivery timescales (including contract programming implications) 
 

f) Customer Support/Delivery Team/Resident Liaison Officer Service 
 

g) Details of defect liability period and provision for cover 
 

h) Supply chain management 
 

i) Social Value Act 2012 
 

66



j) Where works are required to Leasehold properties provide a commitment 
to, and explanation of the process used, enabling the Council to recover 
costs in line with The Services Charges Regulations 2003.  

 
6. The Business Cases were submitted to the Council for internal and external 

validation prior to approval. All Business Cases were subject to an independent 
overview and assessment by Barker Associates Limited. 

 
7. To ensure compliance with the Business Case Schedule 2 Methodology and 

Services Agreement contractual requirements, a robust internal evaluation 
process is also undertaken by the Council to ensure that all aspects of the 
submission comply. 

 
8. A list of properties and specification requirements have been identified from the 

Council’s Housing Asset Management Plan, in line with the investment principles 
established in the revised Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
approved in January 2019.  Details of the works packages and allocations are 
shown below. 

 
Internal Works - £930,000  
 
9. These works form part of the Council’s wider HIP which target internal works to 

Council homes. Works to individual properties include the replacement of 
kitchens, bathrooms, rewires and new boiler installations. The works target 
resources to ensure homes meet the Governments Decent Homes Standards 
are maintained and that local priorities are addressed.   
 

Aids and Adaptations - £900,000  
 
10. This allocation forms part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to suitably adapt 

properties for its tenants with disabilities. These works include minor and major 
adaptations such as grab rails, wet rooms, stair lifts and extensions to provide 
additional accommodation on the ground floor. 

 
Statutory Testing and Compliance – £1,800,000  
 
11. This allocation forms part of the Housing regulatory requirements, and 

comprises of the testing, inspection, and installation of electrical works which 
include fixed wired installations, property rewires, statutory testing, and 
inspection.  

 
Environmental Estate Works – £100,000  
 
12. This allocation will be used for the enhancement of housing estates and will 

enable the continuation of the ongoing Environmental Improvement works 
commencing 2018/19. 
 
 
 
 

67



External Works – £320,000  
 
13. These works form part of the Council’s HIP which has established a Modern 

Homes Programme that targets external works packages to Council homes. 
Works to individual properties include the replacement of entire roof coverings 
with insulated designs, and the fascia, soffits and rainwater goods. 

 
Garages – £350,000  
 
14. This allocation will deliver improved standards of the rented garage stock and 

provide additional unallocated parking in areas of acute need. Works include 
new roofs, including facia and rainwater goods, and replacement garage door 
sets with enhanced security features. Other terraces will be demolished and 
formed into marked hardstand spaces. 

 
Communal Boilers and Heating – £1,400,000  
 
15. This allocation forms part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to take a 

proactive approach to energy efficiency targeting resources to eliminate the risk 
of fuel poverty. The work focuses on improving the energy efficiency and 
maintenance liabilities of the aged communal boilers and heating installations in 
complexes. 

 
Governance 
 
16. New methodology is in place for the governance, reporting, delivery, and 

monitoring of HTS’ delivery. The performance will be monitored and reported 
regularly to the Cabinet. The reporting will cover issues of works costs, quality, 
customer satisfaction, and wider resourcing to enable the Council to benchmark 
against other Contractors, and its five year Housing Asset Management plans.  

 
17. HTS will need to comply with the contractual requirements of the Contract by 

providing data, information and attendance at meetings as required (including 
performance reports to the Programme and Project Management Group, 
Tenancy and Property Panel and Budget Review meetings). All individual 
programmes will be subject to a formal, contractual Mid-Year Review which will 
assess the productivity, cash-flow and completion programmes. 

 
Next Steps 
 
18. The HRA Business Plan was approved by Cabinet in January 2019 and 

individual ‘Project Orders’ will be issued by the Council against the budgets 
identified above.  Further works, and the equivalent funding, may be identified 
throughout the year for which these contracts would be an appropriate, efficient 
and cost effective method to deliver the Council’s requirements for investment. 

 
19. Any additional works identified by the Council that would result in the approved 

budget being exceeded, shall be the subject to a separate report to the relevant 
Portfolio Holder or the Cabinet, and subject to their subsequent approval prior to 
any additional works being commissioned. 

68



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The contract awards will be met from the allocations set out within the approved 
2019/20 Housing Capital Programme. Whilst the final costs of the Statutory Testing 
and Compliance and Internal Works packages are higher than the specific 
allocations within the programme, the contract awards will be managed within the 
overall context of capital resources available and as approved by Council in 
February 2019. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
These programmes of work will enable the Council to:  
 

a) Deliver its commitments to maintain its properties to a lettable standard.  
 

b) Meet its obligations to achieve Decent Home targets. 
 

c) Maintain the overall level of statutory compliance. 
 

d) Help increase tenant satisfaction with the improving standard of its properties.  
 

e) Provide opportunities for the tenant’s to reduce their energy consumption.  
 
If the works packages are not approved, this will have implications on delivering the 
Housing Capital Programme and maintaining the Decent Homes standard.  There 
will also be knock-on effects to the repair budgets, voids turn-over and resident 
satisfaction. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
These works will have a positive impact on the quality of life in Harlow. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The business cases referred to above were procured in compliance with the 
Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
None. 
 
 

69



Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
HTS – HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd 
HIP – Housing Investment Programme 
LATC – Local Authority Trading Company 
SHE - Safety, Health and Environment 
KPI – Key Performance Indicators 

70



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 
REVIEW OF THE IMPACT OF PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR DANNY PURTON, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENT 
 
COUNCILLOR JOHN STRACHAN, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR REGENERATION 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

JULIE HOUSTON, STRATEGY AND ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER (01279) 446445 
 
CHRISTINE HOWARD, YOUTH AND CITIZENSHIP 
MANAGER (01279) 446192 
 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I009915 
Call-in Procedures may apply 
This decision will affect Great Parndon, Little Parndon and Hare Street, Mark 
Hall and Netteswell Wards. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A the Council seeks Article 4 Directions for the employment areas of The 

Pinnacles, Templefields (area not already covered by the Templefields 
Enterprise Zone (EZ) site Article 4 Directions) and the Burnt Mill Industrial 
area/offices adjacent to Harlow Town Railway Station (attached as appendices 
C, D and E to the report), and then to notify the Secretary of State to grant this. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Scrutiny Committee considered a report on Permitted Development at its 

meeting on 13 February 2019 and asked Cabinet to seek Article 4 Directions for 
some of the employment areas in the town. 

 
 
 
 
 

71

Agenda Item 14a



BACKGROUND 
 
1. At its meeting on 13 February, the Committee considered an update report on a 

review of Permitted Development. 
 

2. The report identified several employment areas throughout the town, which the 
Council could seek Article 4 Directions for. The Committee has recommended to 
Cabinet that the Council seeks Article 4 directions for the areas highlighted in 
appendices C, D and E to the original report. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section of 
the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Scrutiny Committee ‘Review of the Impact of 
Permitted Development – Interim Report’ 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 
 

 

72



Appendix 1 

REPORT TO: 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

13 FEBRUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

REVIEW OF THE IMPACT OF PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT – UPDATE REPORT 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

JULIE HOUSTON, STRATEGY AND ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER (01279) 446445 
 
CHRISTINE HOWARD, YOUTH AND CITIZENSHIP 
MANAGER (01279) 446192 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Committee notes the work undertaken to date and approves the ongoing 

work required as detailed in the attached work programme attached as Appendix 
A to the report. 

 
B The Council becomes a signatory to the joint Local Government Association 

(LGA)/Shelter open letter on Permitted Development Rights (PDR) to the 
Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) attached as Appendix B to the report. 

 
C The Committee recommends to Cabinet that the Council seeks Article 4 

Directions for the employment areas of The Pinnacles, Templefields (area not 
already covered by the Templefields Enterprise Zone (EZ) site Article 4 
Directions) and the Burnt Mill Industrial area/offices adjacent to Harlow Town 
Railway Station (attached as appendices C, D and E to the report), and then to 
notify the Secretary of State to grant this. 

 
D The Committee receive an update report in the next municipal year. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Review of the Impact of Permitted Development Rights in relation to office 

to residential conversions commenced in September 2018 with initial information 
and evidence gathering. Following the interim report in October 2018 which 
considered evidence to date and approved the headlines for future work 
programme, an Officer team have been pursuing the various elements of that 
work programme (attached as Appendix A to the report). 

 
2. In addition to the above, in December 2018 the Council formally raised this 

matter, through an Essex wide approach to the London Boroughs and the Mayor 
of London, and additionally, with Essex Members of Parliament. Following 

73



response from the Mayor of London to the Essex Leaders, dialogue is continuing 
to improve the situation and the Council is continuing to support this process. 

 
3. The MP for Harlow Robert Halfon, has raised the issue through a question put 

on the floor of the House of Commons and called for a review and additional 
resources for Harlow Council to support new residents.  

 
4. On 28 January 2019 The LGA, in partnership with Shelter, has issued an open 

letter (attached as Appendix B to the report) to the Secretary of State for the 
MHCLG which includes the following extracts: 
 

a) ‘Permitted development rights have caused extensive problems. 
Therefore, we consider that the current proposals to allow for 
demolition of existing buildings and replacement with new residential 
ones, and for upwards extensions to existing buildings for new homes 
through a permitted development right, should not be pursued. 
 

b) We call on the government to instead focus on delivering the 
affordable, high quality homes that people want and need through the 
local planning process. 

 
c) We also consider that there should be an independent review of the 

wide-ranging impacts of permitted development rights allowing change 
of use into residential homes’. 

 
d) The LGA is inviting organisations to add signatures of support to the 

letter. 
 

5. In January 2019, Council Officers met with colleagues from Public Health 
England and Primary Care to discuss a proposed project which will carry out a 
health needs assessment of Harlow residents. This work will include a 
community engagement element and Officers will discuss widening the scope to 
include wider wellbeing issues to address tasks contained in the work 
programme. 

 
6. Officers are leading on a multi-agency working group to identify and tackle 

issues affecting residents living in accommodation that has been converted from 
offices to residential dwellings under PDR. The majority of these have been 
placed in Harlow by other councils. The group consists of statutory, non-
statutory and voluntary sector organisations and aims to : 

 
a) develop good working relationships with housing management agents 

and placing authorities  
 

b) safeguard children and families by raising new resident’s awareness of 
local support agencies to ensure they can access any support they 
need in a timely fashion and help integrate new households in to the 
local community to reduce social isolation and increase positive health 
and wellbeing.    

74



7. Council officers are discussing the potential for bidding to the Department of 
Work and Pensions for resources to support residents in PDR sites to maximise 
their employment prospects. The bid is under development with the voluntary 
sector and the deployment of resources is intended to be a partnership 
approach with the voluntary sector.  

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
8. The current quantum of PDR sites in Harlow requires that there is a need for 

ongoing work to manage the current circumstances. The existing PDR 
conversions will remain as such facilities for the foreseeable future and therefore 
the officer group will continue the attached work programme and report back to 
Scrutiny Committee at a future date. 

 
9. Although dialogue is progressing between local authorities and the issue of PDR 

with respect to residential conversion is now receiving greater local and national 
attention, the Council will need to continue to press for policy change to ensure 
that the risk of further loss of employment space and increase of poor housing 
conditions is mitigated. 

 
10. The Council will continue to progress dialogue with referring councils regarding 

how individuals and families moving to Harlow can be supported in appropriate 
ways that do not leave that burden entirely with the receiving locality and the 
local public services or indeed leaving the individuals and families struggling to 
make those connections with services. This will require attention to referral 
procedure and protocols around information sharing. 

 
11. The Council will also continue to work to enable joined up support for residents 

of PDR conversions through the multi-agency working group approach and 
better information and communications. As stated in paragraph 10 above, 
included in this will be required a considered approach regarding information 
sharing. 

 
12. Given the existing quantum of PDR notifications for conversion of offices to 

residential, and the loss of employment land this has given rise to, it is 
recommended that the Council will seek Article 4 Directions for the employment 
areas of The Pinnacles, Templefields (area not already covered by the 
Templefields EZ site Article 4 Direction) and the Burnt Mill Industrial area/offices 
adjacent to Harlow Town Railway Station. The effect of this will be that these 
localities will be removed from PDR. This is required in order to ensure that no 
further loss of employment land takes place which would be at variance to the 
assessment of that required in the draft Local Plan for Harlow which is to be 
examined in public in March 2019.    

 
 
 
 
 
 

75



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
In the last four years Harlow has lost more than 38,000 square metres of 
employment space to residential conversions through permitted development, which 
leads to a significant concern if the Council is unable to provide sufficient space for 
new jobs to match the town’s housing growth. The implementation of Article 4 
Directions on existing employment sites will help to protect these in the longer term 
and then help the Council to deliver its Local Plan targets. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations 
included within the report. However, for each premises converted under PDR there 
will be loss of business rates to Harlow. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The Local Planning Authority can use an Article 4 direction under the General 
Permitted Development Order to withdraw specified permitted development rights 
across a defined area.  Government guidance is that Article 4 directions should only 
be used in exceptional circumstances where the exercise of permitted development 
rights would harm local amenity and the proper planning of the area.  Provided the 
Local Planning Authority can justify both its purpose and extent the direction can be 
made.  The use should be limited to situations where it is necessary to protect the 
local amenity or wellbeing of the area.   
 
The Local Planning Authority when looking to make such a direction should clearly 
identify the potential harm the direction is intended to address. Councillors should be 
aware that the direction does not prevent development but means that an application 
must be made for planning permission prior to any development taking place. In 
deciding whether or not to make an Article 4 direction the Local Planning Authority 
should be aware that compensation may be paid in limited circumstances.   
 
Officers have identified that an Article 4 direction is necessary to protect the 
wellbeing of the areas identified and the greater wellbeing of those within the areas. 
By following the proper process to determine the appropriateness of such a direction 
and by following the statutory procedure challenges can be mitigated. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 

76



Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Work Programme – Review of the Impact of Permitted Development 
Appendix B – Joint LGA/Shelter open letter on PDR to the Secretary of State for the 
MHCLG 
Appendix C – The Pinnacles Map 
Appendix D – Templefields Map 
Appendix E – Burnt Mill and Harlow Railway Station Map 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
EZ – Enterprise Zone 
LGA – Local Government Association 
MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
PDR – Permitted Development Rights 

77



 

 

APPENDIX A – WORK PROGRAMME - REVIEW OF THE IMPACT OF PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT  - JANUARY 2019 
 
LEAD OFFICER:   JANE GREER 
 

 
Tasks  

 
Outputs / Outcomes Timescale 

 
Progress to Date 

 

Continue to identify 
and develop 
knowledge of 
Permitted 
Development 
conversions 
 

Ensure an up to date log 
is available. 

Ongoing rolling 
review. 

Recent update Jan 2019 

Engage with 
residents to assess 
their aspirations and 
how quality of life 
issues might be 
addressed 
 

Primary care/public 
health needs 
assessment research to 
establish this 

To be 
determined with 
Public 
Health/Primary 
Care colleagues 

In progress – first meeting 
between Public Health/Primary 
Care project leads has taken 
place 

Consider how 
support for the 
development of 
Residents’ 
Associations might 
be achieved at 
converted sites. 
 

Engage with the 
managing agents of the 
larger sites to encourage 
the setting up of 
Resident Forums 

31 March 2019 

In progress – initial 
conversation with a key 
management agent has taken 
place. 

Develop plans for 
partnership 
approaches to 
enabling support for 
the residents and 
influencing service 
delivery 
 

Multi agency working 
group has been  
established to develop 
the ongoing support 
processes. Primary 
care/public health 
research report will feed 
resident needs into this. 
DWP funding is available 
to support outreach 
support for people 
seeking to improve their 
employment prospects. 
Officers are discussing a 
bid to focus on residents 
in PDR residential 
conversion sites and a 
partnership arrangement 
with a voluntary sector 
agency to manage the 
staff. 
Develop an information 
pack for new residents to 
enable them to access 
services appropriately. 

Ongoing review In progress 

Undertake a wider 
social impacts 
assessment 
 

Ensure this can be 
included in the Primary 
Care/Public Health 
research 

To be decided 
with Public 
Health/Primary 
Care colleagues 

In progress 

78



 

 

 
Tasks  

 
Outputs / Outcomes Timescale 

 
Progress to Date 

 

Review the 
protocols 
surrounding the 
placement of people 
into other Council 
areas and consider 
and make 
recommendation to 
strengthening these 
 

Ensure protocols are 
reviewed and in place 
and appropriate 
arrangements to enable 
better communication 
and information 

July 2019 
In progress – refers to Essex 
Leaders letter to placing 
authorities and further dialogue 

Assessment of 
future demand 
implications for 
social and 
affordable housing 
in Harlow  
 

Issue to be included in 
the current Housing 
Needs work currently 
being commissioned  

July 2019 
In progress - Housing Needs 
assessment work to be 
procured   

Assessment of the 
impact upon 
Harlow’s economic 
development 
aspirations and 
business growth 
space and evidence 
employment floor 
space loss 
 

Quantum of employment 
land and office 
floorspace loss 
calculated and fed into 
ongoing economic 
growth strategy for 
Harlow 

July 2019 
Initial assessment undertaken, 
work will be commissioned 
which to assess the impact 

Seek a moratorium 
on any further 
conversions through 
discussion with 
government 
 

Officers have raised the 
issue with government 
officials and were 
directed to Article 4 
Direction process 

Ongoing 
Issues have been fed into the 
Essex Leaders representations 
and to Essex MPs 

Identify additional 
office sites 
vulnerable to 
conversion and 
assess the 
opportunity for 
further Article 4 
Directions to 
prevent conversion 
through  
permitted 
development rights 

Successful application to 
the Secretary of State for 
an Article 4 Direction to 
cover additional 
employment areas for 
The Pinnacles, 
Templefields and Burnt 
Mill Industrial 
Area/offices adjacent to 
Harlow Railway Station 

To be 
determined  

Officers have commenced 
preparations. 

Undertake a 
financial appraisal of 
the loss of the 
business rates 
income against 
council tax revenues 
accruing from PDR  
and assess its 
impact upon Council 
revenues 

Research and paper to 
be produced. 

April 2019 To be progressed 

 

79



Appendix B 

An open letter on Permitted Development Rights  

This open letter on permitted development rights was sent to the Secretary of 

State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government on 21 

January 2019 and published on 28 January 2019. 

 
Rt Hon James Brokenshire MP 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

2 Marsham Street 

London 

SW1P 4DF 

cc. Kit Malthouse MP (Minister of State for Housing) 

 

Dear Secretary of State,  

  

Re: An open letter on Permitted Development Rights  

  

Latest Shelter research shows that in England today, there are more than 
270,000 people without a home. At the heart of the reasons for this is the 
simple fact that for a generation we have failed to build the homes the 
country needs.  

In addressing this, however, it is important to think not only about the 
number but also the type of homes we build and where they need to be 
built. In particular, there is a pressing need to ensure that the homes 
we build are genuinely affordable. Last year we delivered just 6,463 
social rent homes despite having more than 1.2 million households on 
council house waiting lists. These statistics begin to underline the scale of 
the crisis we face and the level of ambition we need to resolve it. 

As well as increasing the focus on affordability, new housing development 
should also provide homes that are high quality, well designed, and served 
by the necessary community infrastructure. 

These ambitions are currently in jeopardy, because of national policies that 
enable developers to avoid making such vital contributions. One of the 

80

https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/research_homelessness_in_great_britain_-_the_numbers_behind_the_story
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/research_homelessness_in_great_britain_-_the_numbers_behind_the_story


most significant of these is permitted development rights allowing offices to 
convert to residential homes without the need for planning permission.  

Since 2013, developers have had a national right to convert office space 
into residential homes, a right they have wholly embraced with nearly 
seven per cent of new homes provided in this way in the last three years. 
Unfortunately, because they are exempt from the full local planning 
process, they come forward with minimal scrutiny and outside of local 
authority control.  

These homes are also delivered without making any contribution towards 
affordable housing, which other forms of developments are required to do. 
This means that we are losing out on thousands of affordable homes which 
would be delivered if these homes went through the planning system. 

Separate research by both the LGA and Shelter has shown the scale of this 
loss. Both organisations have calculated that more than 10,000 affordable 
homes have potentially been lost in the last three years. 

The result of this is that thousands of families remain in temporary 
accommodation and on council house waiting lists for years, despite levels 
of housebuilding rising – underlining that we need to think more about what 
we build as well as how many homes we build.  

Permitted development rights have caused extensive problems. 
Therefore, we consider that the current proposals to allow for 
demolition of existing buildings and replacement with new residential 
ones, and for upwards extensions to existing buildings for new 
homes through a permitted development right, should not be 
pursued. 

We call on the government to instead focus on delivering the 
affordable, high quality homes that people want and need through the 
local planning process. This would support the government’s own 
ambitions to improve the quality of homes and places, as outlined in the 
terms of reference of the ‘Building Better, Building Beautiful’ commission 
launched in November.  

We also consider that there should be an independent review of the 
wide-ranging impacts of permitted development rights allowing 
change of use into residential homes. 

Yours sincerely 

 

If your organisation would like to add its signature to the letter please email: 
jo.allchurch@local.gov.uk.  

81

mailto:jo.allchurch@local.gov.uk


© Crown copyright and database rights OS100019627 (2019). You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you
with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Harlow Council
Civic Centre
The Water Gardens
Harlow
Essex, CM20 1W G GIM4209-008

Scale:

1:7,000

Drawn By:

OG

Date: Drawing Number:

31/01/2019

Pinnacles 

Title:

100 0 100 200 300 400 500 m

Article 4 - Red Line Plan 

Tel. 01279 446655
Email. contact@harlow.gov.uk

Harlow

A3

Essex

\\isharestudio\GISdata\Workspaces

82

adam.rees
Typewritten Text
Appendix C



© Crown copyright and database rights OS100019627 (2019). You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you
with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Harlow Council
Civic Centre
The Water Gardens
Harlow
Essex, CM20 1W G GIM4611-043

Scale:

1:5,000

Drawn By:

OG

Date: Drawing Number:

31/01/2019

Templefields

Title:

100 0 100 200 300 400 500 m

Article 4 - Red Line Plan 

Tel. 01279 446655
Email. contact@harlow.gov.uk

Harlow

A3

Essex

\\isharestudio\GISdata\Workspaces

83

adam.rees_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix D



© Crown copyright and database rights OS100019627 (2019). You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you
with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Harlow Council
Civic Centre
The Water Gardens
Harlow
Essex, CM20 1W G GIM4411-024

Scale:

1:2,000

Drawn By:

OG

Date: Drawing Number:

31/01/2019

Burnt Mill Industrial Estate & Harlow Station

Title:

40 0 40 80 120 160 200 m

Article 4 - Red Line Plan 

Tel. 01279 446655
Email. contact@harlow.gov.uk

Harlow

A3

Essex

\\isharestudio\GISdata\Workspaces

84

adam.rees_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix E



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

REFERRAL FROM CABINET OVERVIEW 
WORKING GROUP – COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR EUGENIE HARVEY, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR COMMUNITY AND WELLBEING 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  CHRISTINE HOWARD, YOUTH AND CITIZENSHIP 
MANAGER (01279) 446192 

 
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I009924 
Call-in Procedures may apply 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The draft Community Engagement Strategy (attached as Appendix A to the 

original report) be approved. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Cabinet Overview Working Group (COWG) considered a report on an 

updated Community Engagement Strategy at its meeting on 14 March 2019 and 
asked Cabinet to approve the updated Strategy. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. At its meeting on 14 March, the COWG received a final report on the Community 

Engagement Strategy. This followed the creation of a Focus Group which 
discussed the Strategy and the future approach to community engagement 
activity.  

 
2. The COWG has asked Cabinet to approve the new Strategy, which is attached 

as Appendix A to the original report. 
 
 

 
 

85

Agenda Item 14b



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section of 
the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Cabinet Overview Working Group, ‘Community 
Engagement Strategy – Final Report’ 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
COWG – Cabinet Overview Working Group 
 

 

86



Appendix 1 

REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 

DATE: 
 

14 MARCH 2019 

TITLE: 
 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY – FINAL 
REPORT 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

CHRISTINE HOWARD, YOUTH AND CITIZENSHIP 
MANAGER (01279) 446192 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that the Working Group: 
 
A Notes the work of the Community Engagement Focus Group 
 
B Recommends the draft Community Engagement Strategy (attached as Appendix 

A to the report) be approved 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. An interim report was submitted to Overview Working Group on 29 November 

2018 to provide an update on the wide range of community engagement work 
that had taken place over the previous 18 months. 

 
2. A copy of the draft Community Engagement Strategy for 2018/19 – 2020/21 (the 

Strategy) was presented to the Working Group at the meeting on 29 November 
2018 along with the interim report and, whilst they felt it was fit for purpose, 
Councillors requested that it should be reviewed again before being presented to 
Cabinet for approval. 

 
3. It was agreed that a Focus Group, including Councillors and Officers, should be 

set up to discuss and have input to the final draft of new Strategy and agree the 
future approach to community engagement activity across all Council services. 

 
4. The Focus Group met on 18 January 2019 for an initial discussion about the 

draft Strategy and to consider how it will be delivered going forward. 
 

5. At the meeting on 18 January 2019 it was agreed that a Community 
Engagement Mission Statement would be developed and a final review of the 
Strategy would be undertaken. To support delivery of the Strategy, a Community 
Engagement Toolkit and Action Plan would be developed following approval of 
the Strategy by Cabinet. 

 
6. A Mission Statement has been developed and approved by all Councillors on 

the Focus Group. The Mission Statement is included in the Strategy. 
 

87



7. A further meeting of the Focus Group took place on 22 February 2019 when the 
Focus Group Members agreed final changes to the Strategy. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
8. At the meeting on 22 February 2019 it was proposed that the Focus Group 

continues to meet over coming months to ensure Councillor involvement in the 
development of a Community Engagement Toolkit and Action Plan. The aim of 
the Toolkit will be to support Officers and Councillors to ensure good practice 
and consistency across all Council services when planning and delivering 
community engagement activity. The Action Plan will be used to demonstrate 
key tasks around development of the Council’s approach to community 
engagement and to evidence outcomes of these tasks. 

 
9. A lead officer for Community Engagement has now been identified. This will 

ensure timely publication of the Strategy once approved by Cabinet as well as 
timely development and implementation of a Toolkit and Action Plan to support 
delivery of the Strategy. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
The development of the Community Engagement Strategy will assist the Council in 
the implementation of robust consultation processes for future planning policy 
proposals 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
The Community Engagement Strategy will need to align with Housing’s Tenant and 
Leaseholder Strategy to ensure alignment of the Councils future engagement 
commitments and to ensure a holistic approach is achieved in terms of promoting 
and encouraging engagement within the Town. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



Governance (Includes HR) 
Effective community engagement on both a statutory and discretionary basis 
underpins well informed decision making across the Council and encourages greater 
involvement in democracy. The proposed strategy sets out the Council’s 
commitment to clear and open engagement practices across the Harlow Community. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft Community Engagement Strategy 2018/19 – 2020/21 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 
 

 

89



Appendix A 

 

 

 

 

 

Harlow Council 

 

Community Engagement Strategy 

 

2018/19 – 2020/21 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Contents 

90



 

 

 2 

 

Item  Page  Content 
 

 
 

 
3 

 
Introduction 
 

 
1 

 
4 

 
What is Community Engagement?  
 

 
2 

 
6 

 
Why Community Engagement is important 
 

 
3 

 
8 

 
Partnership working 
 

 
4 

 
9 

 
How the Council intends to engage with communities in the future  
 

 
5 

 
11 

 
Future engagement – the Council’s commitment 
 

 
6 

 
13 

 
Measuring success 
 

 
 

 
14 

 
Acknowledgements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction  

91



 

 

 3 

Harlow Council takes its responsibility for engaging with local people and businesses 
seriously and aims, wherever possible and practical, to take their views and opinions 
into consideration when making decisions about things that affect them.   

The Council genuinely wants to ensure that people feel well informed about local 
issues; have the opportunity to get involved in and influence local decision-making 
and the ability to tell the Council what they think about its policies, procedures, 
service delivery and work with partner organisations.  Above all, the Council wants to 
help build strong, involved and integrated communities where people can live happily 
alongside one another and enjoy all the benefits the town has to offer.  

In addition, through effective engagement and marketing we can work together with 
residents, businesses and our partners to ensure that Harlow is recognised as a 
great place to live, work and visit; a great place for children to grow up being healthy 
and feeling safe and happy; an excellent place to do business where businesses will 
thrive and flourish and a place where people from all backgrounds can live happily 
together demonstrating community spirit and pride in Harlow.    

The purpose of a Community Engagement Strategy is to build on good practices that 
already exist within the Council; plan a way forward for engaging with local people in 
the future and ultimately increase the number and diversity of people who engage 
with and work with the Council to help make Harlow the best place it can possibly be.  

The strategy also acknowledges the Council’s desire to work closely together with 
statutory, voluntary and community partners for the benefit of all local people and 
businesses.    

The strategy is set out clearly in four sections  

1. What is community engagement?  
 

2. Why community engagement is important  
 

3. Partnership working  
 

4. How the Council intends to engage with local people in the future  

The strategy links directly to the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018/19 - 2020/21 in 
which the Council clearly states its goals for the next three years and how it intends 
to achieve these. Engaging with local people, businesses and partners will 
undoubtedly play a key role in the council’s success in this respect.  

The strategy also links to the Council’s Tenant and Leaseholder Involvement 
Strategy which outlines how the Council will work together with tenants and resident 
leaseholders of Harlow Council to improve the services it delivers.  

Further, the strategy is aligned to the findings and recommendations from extensive 
work undertaken by The Campaign Company in 2017/18 and will build on the work 
already undertaken for the Discover Harlow project to ensure Harlow is recognised 
for its outstanding location, energy, aspiration, achievement and wealth of 
opportunities. 

92



 

 

 4 

Officers and Members have worked together to develop a Mission Statement that 
describes succinctly the Council’s aim in respect of community engagement. This will 
be used when promoting the strategy and other community engagement resources 
such as posters and leaflets and will inform the various work streams that will 
naturally evolve as a result of delivery of the strategy.  

 

 
Mission Statement 

 
Community Engagement is the process by which 
Harlow Council aims to build strong, connected, 

involved and empowered communities with voices 
that will be heard and responded to as part of local 

decision-making. 
 

 

1. What is Community Engagement?   

The term ‘Community Engagement’ can mean different things to different people and 
can take a number of different forms depending on what is hoped to be achieved. 
With this in mind the Council takes a varied and flexible approach to engaging with 
local people and recognises that there are many different types of community. For 
example ‘Communities of Place‘ are people living within a defined geographical 
area such as Church Langley or Staple Tye. ‘Communities of Identity’ are people 
who share a particular experience or characteristic, such as young people, faith 
groups, older people, people with a disability, ethnic groups or lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender people. ‘Communities of Interest’ are people who share a 
particular interest such as skaters, athletes, musicians etc.    

It is easy to think about community engagement as a set of steps ranging from 
providing information right up to passing decision-making responsibilities over to 
local people. Thus, engagement can include the provision of a whole range of 
information in various formats; undertaking research and consultation; encouraging, 
supporting and enabling participation and devolving decision-making powers where 
possible and appropriate.  

Effective community engagement is about making sure that residents are well 
informed about local services and issues that might affect them and the town more 
widely.  Good engagement enables people to participate in lots of different ways to 
help make Harlow a better place in which to live, work and enjoy leisure 
opportunities. It also includes actively involving service users in the design and 
delivery of services wherever possible so that we can deliver quality services that 
meet the needs of local people.   

The Council currently provides information on a whole range of subjects in a variety 
of different formats. As well as informing people about the different services and 
functions of the Council, it also sets out the challenges being faced; what it has 
achieved and the choices that it faces within the resources that it has available. It is 

93



 

 

 5 

important for local people to understand what the Council can do as well as what it 
can’t and the reasons for this.  

However, engagement is not just about providing people with information. It is also   
about consulting them to gain an understanding of their views and opinions; 
conducting research to gather valuable information about local communities and by 
working together, in partnership, with local people to achieve a common aim.  

There are different levels of engagement - from the simple provision of information 
through to direct involvement, collaborative working and ultimately the empowerment 
of local people to come together as strong, involved and influential communities.   

 

 

 

Community engagement can take place in many different ways and the Council 
engages individuals and groups using the following formal and informal methods: 

 

 Annual Staff Survey  

 Biennial Landlord Survey 

 Consultations – for example in relation to the Town Centre Area Action Plan 
and the Harlow and Gilston Town Project 

 Council Committee meetings 

 Councillor Surgeries  

 Harlow Council Website 

 Harlow Times Magazine 

 Housing Focus Groups 

 Housing Standards Panels and Board 

 Online, using Facebook, Twitter and other appropriate social media sites 

 Posters, leaflets, flyers etc. 

 Procurement Exercises 

 Public meetings,  displays and market place opportunities 

 Residents’ Associations  

 Resident Inspectors 

 Surveys – online, face-to-face and postal 

 Task and Finish Sub Groups 

 Tenant and Leaseholder Involvement Strategy 

94



 

 

 6 

 Tenant and Leaseholder Forums   

 Ward Inspections 

 Youth Council 
 

 

Note: For the purposes of this strategy ‘local people’ are defined as people likely to 
be affected by, or particularly interested in, a particular function. As well as residents 
of Harlow this can include people who work or study in Harlow, visitors to Harlow, 
Harlow service users, third sector groups in Harlow and businesses operating in 
Harlow.    

 

2. Why Community Engagement is important 

Harlow’s population has grown slightly over recent years and is projected to grow 
further. The town’s population currently stands at 87,100 (2018). However, the Office 
for National Statistics projects Harlow’s population to reach 94,800 by 2033 

In 2017, 22.1% of the town’s population was aged under-sixteen. This was slightly 
higher than the mean for all UK Local Authorities (18.5%).  

Harlow is becoming a much more ethnically diverse town with latest statistics 
showing around 16% of Harlow’s population being non White British. 

Over recent years the town has also seen a significant increase in the number of 
families being placed in to Harlow by other Councils. This brings its own challenges 
in terms of increased demand on local support services and pressure on schools and 
health services but also in that the Council does not always know about or 
understand the community demographics in these areas and this could impact on 
opportunities for effective engagement going forward.  

It is therefore important that the Council recognises growth in the diversity of its 
communities and prepares for the changes and challenges that this will undoubtedly 
bring. The Council needs and wants to be able to engage positively with people of all 
ages, from all social and ethnic backgrounds and intends that this strategy will inform 
and drive this work.     

The Council wants to work with residents, statutory and non-statutory agencies and 
community and voluntary groups to strengthen relationships between people from 
different ethnic backgrounds and faiths and, in its role as community leader, will aim 
to bring communities together and improve relationships between different groups.  

The Council also recognises the importance of young people’s views and actively 
supports the work of Harlow Youth Council and the Harlow Youth Strategy Group to 
ensure that young people’s views are heard and taken into consideration when 
decisions are made about things that affect them, including the commissioning of 
local services.  

Engaging with local people helps the Council build a clearer understanding of local 
issues and needs from the perspective of those who are most affected by the 

95



 

 

 7 

situation. Getting to know local communities better means that the Council can 
ensure the most appropriate methods are used to engage them effectively and 
successfully.  Likewise, good engagement also means that local people gain a better 
understanding of the challenges being faced by the Council in seeking to meet their 
needs.   

It is recognised that good community engagement can result in strong, vibrant and 
empowered communities. The Council aims to support local people to develop and 
enjoy such communities by further developing meaningful opportunities for dialogue 
with local people in good times and in difficult ones.  We will listen to what local 
people have to say when making decisions about resources and services that affect 
them both directly and indirectly. In addition, we will work closely with local people to 
set up and run their own Residents’ Associations to help build strong, connected and 
resilient communities.  

Community engagement activity ranges from ensuring the availability of relevant 
information to suit the needs of local people through to undertaking research and 
conducting consultations and actively encouraging and supporting participation in 
decision-making processes.  

Good community engagement can result in a range of benefits for individuals, 
businesses, communities and partners which can include any or all of the following 
outcomes.  

 Assisting partners meet their requirement to carry out statutory consultation.  

 Improved relationships with communities through open conversation and honest 
feedback. Increased public involvement in local decision-making and greater 
possibility of the public being able to influence local decisions. 

 Involving residents in the delivery of public services to make sure their 
knowledge, experience and priorities help shape services so they are more 
responsive to local need. 

 Encouraging more voluntary and community groups to become involved in 
planning and delivering local services so that they meet local demand. 

 Helping people build strong, involved and empowered communities that are more 
resilient and self-sufficient and thus less reliant on the Council. 

 Engaging more people in local democracy and decision-making about things that 
affect them. 

Effective and successful engagement will assist the Council to 
achieve its top five priorities for 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

 More and Better Housing 

 Regeneration and a Thriving Economy 

 Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

 A clean and Green Environment 

 Successful Children and Young People 

96



 

 

 8 

 
Positive engagement will be led by the Council’s three guiding 
principles as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018 - 2021 
 

 Being the Community Leader  

 Sound Resource Management  

 Equalities and Fairness 
 

 

3. Partnership working 

For many years the approach to community engagement in Harlow has been that 
individual organisations have been responsible for their own engagement activity. 
The Council however recognises the benefits of partnership working and whenever 
possible and practical seeks to work in partnership to effectively engage and involve 
local people.  

There are real benefits to be had in working together with partners to engage local 
people and economies of scale can be achieved where consultation activities can be 
joined up and undertaken simultaneously rather than duplicating engagement activity 
or events.  Also, by sharing and combining information, agencies can gain a much 
clearer picture of local issues and the specific needs of the community.  

It is important that there are opportunities for a range of different people to come 
together at various times, depending on the situation, to work together with the 
Council to ensure successful community engagement. We will seek to actively 
engage relevant people and partners on an ongoing basis and will include the 
following.   

 Harlow residents and those defined as ‘local people’ (see page 4). 

 Ward Councillors - as elected representatives of their communities. 

 Voluntary and community groups - both individually and through local 
infrastructure organisations such as Rainbow Services.  

 Smaller community groups such as Residents’ Associations and local support 
groups etc. 

 Private sector organisations, local businesses and social enterprises. 

 Public service providers such as the County Council, the police, education, 
health, housing providers etc.  

 

 

 

97



 

 

 9 

4. How the Council intends to engage with communities in the 

future  

As mentioned on pages 3 and 4 of this strategy, the Council currently engages with 
local people in a variety of different ways although community engagement activities 
have not always been planned or joined up effectively across all services and 
audiences in the past.  

The Council’s communications channels and activities – including the Harlow Times 
magazine, website, various newsletters etc. and council events have been an 
important part in engaging with local people. Over recent years the Council has 
made more and better use of social media platforms and the Communications Team 
has undertaken both a customer services review and an extensive review in to the 
use of social media. These reviews highlighted key ways in which we can improve 
the way we engage with people via social media in the future to ensure we reach as 
wide an audience as possible. 

Due to the Council’s efforts to increase the number of people accessing services via 
the website (for example to pay rent and Council Tax and book services such as 
green waste and bulky items for collection) local people are becoming much more 
familiar with the website and as a result there will continue to be a strong focus on 
developing the website as an important self-serve and community engagement tool.   

The Council is already actively and effectively using social media to engage with a 
much wider audience across all ages and will continue to develop this area of 
engagement. In particular, social media will be used to target and engage young 
people about things that affect or interest them and the Council’s Communications 
Team actively supports Harlow Youth Council to engage young people via social 
media.  

However, we will continue to ensure that we offer a wide range of appropriate 
engagement opportunities that meet the needs of all local people across all age 
groups and social backgrounds. We will strive to ensure that we can actively engage 
people and groups that may be viewed as ‘hard to reach’ or are vulnerable through 
age or disability for example. We will regularly ask local people how they wish to 
engage with us and respond to their requirements positively whenever possible.   

 

 
The diagram overleaf gives a visual representation of the many 
ways in which the Council engages with individuals, groups and 

partner agencies.  
 

In delivering this strategy, the Council will work to increase the 
range of methods available for positive engagement. We will be 

open to new and innovative ways of engaging with local people to 
ensure their voices are heard and taken in to consideration as 

part of decision making processes.  
 
 

98



 

 

 10 

 

 

 

 

Principles 

The Council’s approach to future engagement with local people will include the 
following.   

 Having clearly defined objectives for engagement and communicating clearly and 

openly about decision-making processes and resulting actions.  

 An openness to considering and developing new ways to deliver services. 

 Seeking to reach those communities and individuals not yet engaged i.e. hard to 
reach and marginalised groups. 

99



 

 

 11 

 Genuinely listening to the views and opinions of local people and taking these 

into consideration when making decisions that affect them. 

 Being open and honest with local people when their views and opinions cannot 

be acted upon and the reasons for this. 

 Sharing information (where appropriate) and expertise and pooling partner 

resources to maximise engagement and reduce ‘engagement fatigue’ and 

duplication for communities, businesses and individuals. 

 Seeking to identify new and innovative ways to engage local people in timely and 

creative ways in order to ensure maximum participation. 

 Recognising and valuing existing community engagement methods and working 

to make these more responsive and effective. 

 

5. Future engagement – the Council’s commitment.  

The Council will undertake the following actions in order to support robust delivery of 

this strategy and ensure effective community engagement in the future.   

 Ensure an organisational culture where all Councillors and staff recognise and 

value the importance of effective engagement and consultation 

 

 Observe good practice and available guidance, for example the ‘New 
Conversations – LGA guide to engagement’ and the Harlow specific tool 
‘Embedding Community Engagement Through Change’  

 Develop and promote a Community Engagement Toolkit that will be 

understood and delivered across all council services to ensure good practice, 

effective planning and robust monitoring and evaluation of community 

engagement activity.    

 Be clear about what it hopes to achieve from consultation and not undertake 
consultation where it is clear that public opinion will not change outcomes - for 
example when statutory duties must be met  

 

 Continue to use a variety of community engagement methods to consult and 
engage with local people – using the most appropriate approach depending 
on the situation 

 

 Continue to develop the Council’s website as an important, informative and 
useful engagement tool with the intention that more services become 
available to the public through self-serve platforms online and through mobile 
devices 
 

100



 

 

 12 

 Ensure people have a choice about the way in which they communicate with 
the Council, for example by letter, email, telephone and also through social 
media platforms and that the Council offers a range of appropriate methods 
for sharing information and communicating with local people. This  includes 
the availability of information in different languages and large print 
 

 Ensure that community engagement activity is aligned to the work of the 
Communications Team; is well planned and co-ordinated across the Council 
and  that feedback from local people is shared appropriately internally as well 
as being shared with external partners whilst taking in to consideration issues 
of confidentiality and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) . 
 

 Undertake all statutory engagement effectively, ensuring residents have 
sufficient time to respond.   
 

 Take an Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) approach to working 

with communities. This approach focusses on identifying the strengths, skills 

and experiences of people within local communities as well as other assets 

such as community buildings and local community and voluntary groups.  

Asset Based Community Development draws upon existing community 

strengths to build stronger, more sustainable communities for the future.       

 

 Make available the option for up to three ‘Community Call’ public meetings a 

year. This approach gives local people the opportunity to request a public 

meeting with Councillors and officers to discuss an identified issue and work 

together to develop a community based solution.          

 

 Continuously seek to identify new and innovative ways to actively and 
successfully engage local people on an going basis and regularly liaise with 
other local authorities to identify new areas of good practice  
 

 Actively encourage tenants and resident leaseholders of Harlow Council to 
participate in forums, become members of the Housing Standards Panels and 
Board and be involved in other housing related involvement activities to reflect 
the increasing diversity of Harlow.  
 

 Work in partnership to develop initiatives and activities to involve people in 
improving their neighbourhoods  

 

 Support existing Residents’ Associations and the development of new ones in 
order to bring communities together; enhance community cohesion and assist 
residents to take interest in and greater sense of responsibility for their own 
areas 
 

 Work in partnership with the community and voluntary sector to support them 

to play a key role in influencing and delivering services 

101



 

 

 13 

 

 

6. Measuring success 

The Council will develop a Community Engagement Action Plan to support delivery 

of this strategy and embed Community Engagement within its working practices 

across all service areas.  Success will be measured against performance targets and 

desired outcomes contained in the Action Plan.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

102



 

 

 14 

Acknowledgements 

Page 4, Community Engagement diagram – Dr Crispin Butteriss, Bangthetable 

Community Engagement Blog  

 

103



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

28 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 
IMPROVING THE PROVISION OF BUS SERVICES 
IN HARLOW 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR DANNY PURTON, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENT 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

MIKE KELLY, BUS STATIONS AND CAR PARKS 
SUPERVISOR (01279) 446896 

 
 
This is not a Key Decision 
Call-in Procedures may apply 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The outcomes of the Local Bus Consultation relating to future transport 

requirements in Harlow and wider areas be referred to the Garden Town Board. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Scrutiny Committee considered a report on bus provision at its meeting on 

19 March 2019 and asked Cabinet to refer the outcomes of the Local Bus 
Consultation to the Garden Town Board. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Scrutiny Committee considered a final report on improving bus provision in 

Harlow 
 

2. A Local Bus Consultation was carried out as part of the view and it is 
recommended that the review is referred to the Garden Town Board for further 
consideration. 

 
 
 
 
 

104

Agenda Item 14c



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section of 
the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Scrutiny Committee ‘Improving the Provision of 
Bus Services in Harlow – Final Report’ 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 
 

 

105



Appendix 1 

REPORT TO: 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

19 MARCH 2019  

TITLE: 
 

IMPROVING THE PROVISION OF BUS SERVICES 
IN HARLOW – FINAL REPORT 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN - HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

MIKE KELLY, BUS STATION AND CAR PARKS 
SUPERVISOR (01279) 446896 
 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Committee notes the outcomes of the review. 
 
B Recommends to Cabinet that the outcomes of the Local Bus Consultation 

relating to future transport requirements in Harlow and wider areas be referred to 
the Garden Town Board. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Council is not the regulatory authority for the provision of bus services in 

Harlow. That responsibility rests with the Eastern Traffic Commissioner (ETC). 
 

2. Essex County Council (the County Council) is responsible for providing, through 
subsidy, any desirable routes that the private sector does not wish to operate. 
Whilst the Council has no direct control over the provision and quality of bus 
services in Harlow, the Council has the ability to exert influence. 

 
3. The original scoping report for the review was agreed by the Committee and 

subsequent updates regarding progress have been provided at the Special 
meeting in April 2018 (which included full disclosure of the findings from the 
User Surveys), a verbal update at the meeting in February 2018 and an interim 
report at the meeting in October 2018. 

 
4. The agreed aims of the review were to gather information on the level of 

services provided in Harlow and examine the customer/user experience in order 
that the findings can be relayed to both the service operators and service 
regulators to help influence and shape future service provision. 

 
5. Further progress has been made following the presentation of the interim report 

to the Committee’s April and October meetings using the research findings and 
key themes generated by QRS Market Research Ltd surveys to discuss key 
issues with bus service operators and the County Council. 
 

106



ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
6. The aim of the review was to gather information on the level of services provided 

in Harlow and examine the customer/user experience in order that the findings 
of the review can be relayed to both service operators (the bus companies) and 
service regulators (ETC and the County Council). 
 

7. The review also looked at the 2017 Buses Act which provides additional powers 
to top tier authorities such as the County Council. The Act has extended the 
range of powers for the transport authority and increased the duties placed on 
operators in regard to the provision of bus services. The most significant powers 
include: 

 
a) Improved and enhanced quality bus partnerships 

 
b) Bus franchising 

 
c) The requirement on operators to produce open data available to the 

public. This would require operators and local authorities to publish 
open data digitally for buses in England (outside London). The aim is to 
make it easier for bus passengers to plan their journeys through access 
to routes and timetables data, fares and tickets data, and real time 
information. 

 
8. The County Council is currently engaged in work to refresh its existing bus 

strategy and is also working closely with other local councils (including the 
Council) to address the impact of proposed development on the road, bus and 
sustainable travel networks. 
 

9. The review has also considered compliance with requirements for accessibility, 
requested by the committee as part of the review, and it was found that all 
Harlow operators are complying with requirements for step free access to 
vehicles, improving accessibility to Harlow bus users. 

 
10. Presentation of information on sustainable transport futures for Harlow is not 

included in this report as publication of the draft Harlow and Gilston Garden 
Town Transport Strategy was approved by Cabinet on 28 February 2019 for a 6 
week period following elections in May 2019. The Harlow and Gilston Garden 
Town Board has approved the Strategy in principle. 

 
11. Bus service operators, the County Council and the Council have developed a 

programme of implementable improvements and recommendations to address 
the key themes highlighted by the survey which are detailed in the table below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107



Table 1 – Programme of Implementable Improvements  
 

Theme Action/Recommendation Lead 
organisation 

Viability of late/night 
services 
 

Awaiting outcome of 
consultation  

ECC  - Local Bus 
Consultation 
December 2018 
runs until 22 
March 2019 

Understanding why 
reliability/frequency 
issues arise 
 

Monitoring of services and 
timetable revisions where 
required to ensure routes 
are realistically timed and 
serviced. 

Bus operators – 
implementation 
ongoing 

Bus stop signage 
improvements/updates 
 

Replacement of incorrect 
and damaged signage 

ECC – site 
meetings with 
HDC staff as 
required to assist 
with 2019/20 
programming of 
works 

Links between Visitor 
Information Point at 
Bus Station/bus 
operators and local 
‘shopping’ 
destinations (town 
centre and 
neighbourhood 
centres) 
 

Officer review of Visitor 
Information Point to be 
carried out in 2019 in 
conjunction with Council’s 
Property Manager to 
identify any synergy 
between promotion of 
shopping destinations at 
the bus terminus and 
support of local 
businesses occupying 
HDC premises. 
 
Discover Harlow materials 
to be incorporated into 
terminus. 

Harlow Council 

Joint customer and 
driver engagement 
initiatives 
 

Customer care training Bus operators – 
implemented in 
part 

 
12. It was agreed that the success measure for the review should be the 

improvement in customer/user satisfaction as agreed in the original scoping 
report. The Council records feedback from bus users via a standard form with a 
baseline taken at the start of the review and is basing the measure of success 
as the reduction in negative feedback forms received from the user surveys. 
Over the period of the review a 26.5 per cent reduction in negative feedback has 
been seen in 2018/19 to date as shown below: 

 

108



Table 2 – Customer Satisfaction Levels 
 

 
 
13. An extensive survey was commissioned as part of the review of bus services 

and in keeping with the original intentions and scope of the review. The 
outcomes have been constructive and helpful in determining an action plan as 
set out within this report and setting key themes which it will be important to 
continue to focus on as the Harlow and Gilston Garden Town Transportation 
Strategy is developed and implemented.  Officers will continue to implement the 
actions and recommendations set out in the report and it is anticipated that there 
will be further improvements in customer satisfaction and feedback as a result of 
this work. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
The review of bus service provision is an important precursor to the development of 
the Harlow and Gilston Garden Town and the management of growth in and around 
Harlow. It will be important to be able to demonstrate that the whole town is well 
served by high quality public transport provision, not just the new developments, and 
also that the new developments have sustainable travel mechanisms built into them 
from the beginning to meet the aspirations and targets set out in the Local Plan. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
None specific.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Improvements in customer satisfaction over review period 

Negative feedback received

109



Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific.  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
Harlow Council is not the statutory authority regarding bus services within the district 
but can refer matters to the appropriate body to try and influence how Harlow can be 
best served by public transport. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
ETC- Eastern Traffic Commissioner  
 

110


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	119 Written Questions from the Public

	8 Forward Plan
	9a Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing - 12 March 2019
	9b Portfolio Holder for Regeneration - 14 March 2019
	10 Joint Finance Performance Report, Quarter 3 2018/19
	Appendix A - JFPR Q3 Final (As at 13 March 2019)
	1. Front Page
	2. Council Priorities
	3. How to use this report
	4. Key Considerations
	5. Complaints
	6. The Latest Financial Performance
	6a. Movements in General Fund Balance
	6b. Budget Variations_ Exceptions
	7. Service Based Analysis
	8. Performance
	9. IAPs
	10. Key Corporate & Financial Risks
	11. Corporate Plan (Milestones)


	11 Housing Revenue Account, Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19
	12 Capital Programmes, Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19
	13 HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd Contract Awards 2019/20
	14a Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Review of the Impact of Permitted Development
	Review of the Impact of Permitted Development - Update Report
	Appendix A - Permitted Development Work Programme
	Appendix B - Open Letter from LGA and Shelter on Permitted Development Rights
	Appendix C - The Pinnacles Map
	Appendix D - Templefields Map
	Appendix E - Burnt Mill  Harlow Railway Station Map

	14b Referral from Cabinet Overview Working Group - Community Engagement Strategy
	Community Engagement Strategy - Final Report
	Appendix A - Draft Community Engagement Strategy 2018-19 - 2020-21

	14c Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Improving the Provision of Bus Services in Harlow
	Improving the Provison of Bus Services Within Harlow - Final Report




